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The Board of Directors’ report 2018  
 

The power industry is the heart of the transition to an energy system with increasingly 
lower emissions. Electrification, digitization and green solutions are the future - and 
Hafslund plays a central role in making it happen. Every year, approximately 20.7 
billion kilowatt hours (kWh) are transported through networks owned and maintained 
by Hafslund Nett. The strategic goal is for this to take place without interruption and at 
as low a cost per customer as possible. In 2018, Hafslund reinforced its position as 
one of Norway’s most efficient networks companies, by taking the front position under 
NVE’s regulation model in both the regional and distribution networks. This 
documents low costs, good financial results and low network rental.  
 
The Hafslund Group 
The Hafslund Group is wholly owned by Hafslund E-CO AS. On 20 June 
2018, Oslo City Council resolved to group their ownership in Hafslund AS 
and E-CO Energi Holding AS under a joint board and management team to 
create Norway’s largest integrated energy group – Hafslund E-CO. 
Operations are now carried out in two business areas, Production and 
Networks. The Hafslund Group comprises the Networks business area, but 
also includes a small proportion of other activities that are not network 
related. As the contribution from other activities are expected to be negligible 
in the future, this is not reported as a separate segment in the Group.  
 

Strategy and business development 
In a world where climate and energy issues are becoming increasingly 
important and where new technology gives customers greater choice, 
Hafslund wants to be a part of the solution. The figure below shows 
Hafslund's strategic goals. 
 
99.99 per cent 
Hafslund targets security of delivery (network availability) of 
99.99% over time. This is far better than the national average 
and also corresponds to reasonable and appropriate network 
expansion. 
 
Lowest operating cost per customer 
By delivering the lowest operating cost per customer, 
Hafslund secures the front position in NVE’s efficiency 
calculations. This ensures high efficiency, good profitability 
and low network rental. 
 
Satisfied customers 
Hafslund shall have the most satisfied customers in the power industry. By delivering good customer 
experiences, Hafslund builds trust as a responsible operator that helps to electrify society while 
simultaneously ensuring that Hafslund also is regarded as a relevant and preferred supplier in the 
future. 
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Zero injuries 
Hafslund shall be a frontrunner in HSE in the industry and the long-term goal is zero injuries and a 
workplace where no-one gets home from work injured. 
 
ROCE 1 percentage points over the NVE interest rate 
It should be attractive to own Hafslund and the Group shall deliver stable and long-term returns. The 
return will vary with the NVE interest rate, and over time Hafslund aims to deliver a return on capital 
employed 1 percentage point above the NVE rate. 
 

Results, cash flows, financial position and equity 
The consolidated financial statements for Hafslund AS for 2018 have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU. All amounts with the 
exception of figures stated in the discussion of the parent company, Hafslund AS, on page 11, apply to 
the consolidated financial statements, since the parent company’s operations are limited.  
 
Unless otherwise noted, prior-year figures are stated in brackets.   
 
Profit for the period 
In 2018, the Group posted operating profit EBIT of NOK 758 million (NOK 957 million), to which 
Networks contributed NOK 811 million (NOK 1,016 million) and other activities that are not network 
related NOK – 53 million (NOK – 59 million. Operating profit before depreciation (EBITDA) was NOK 
1,481 million in 2018 (NOK 1,629 million), of which NOK 1,530 million related to Networks and NOK -
49 million to other activities. Efficient operations and cost reductions helped improve profitability in 
2018, while network losses rose because of higher electricity prices and outages caused by several 
storms. The desire to maintain stable network rental for customers throughout the year resulted in 
reduced surplus income in 2018, which negatively impacted profitability. 
 
The negative contribution from other activities is attributable to operating losses and impairment losses 
on shareholdings in equity-accounted investees, and results from the parent company Hafslund AS. 
The contribution from other activities is not expected to materially impact Group results going forward. 
Net financial items of NOK 175 million was NOK 26 million lower than in 2017. The reduction is 
primarily due to lower interest expenses due to lower debt and reduced interest rates. Tax expenses 
were NOK 99 million (NOK 143 million). 
 
Net profit after tax for 2018 was NOK 483 million (NOK 612 million excluding discontinued operations). 
 
Revenue, energy deliveries  
In 2018, Hafslund posted revenue of NOK 5,621 million (NOK 5,169 million), of which NOK 5,571 
million were network related and NOK 51 million came from other activities. 
  
At 20,715 GWh, the energy delivery in 2018 was up on the prior-year figure of 19,576 GWh. In 
addition to organic growth, the volume increase was mainly due to transfer of customers from the 
central network. 
 
Costs and operational performance 
Hafslund’s total operating expenses, including energy purchases and transmission costs, depreciation 
and amortisation was NOK 4,819 million in 2018, up NOK 596 million from 2017. Of the total operating 
expenses, NOK 4,761 million related to Networks and NOK 59 million to other activities. Energy 
purchases and transmission costs rose by NOK 612 million compared to 2017, mainly due to higher 
costs for the overhead network and greater network losses due to higher power prices.  
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In 2018, the Group reinforced its position as one of Norway’s most efficient networks operators by 
becoming a benchmark company under NVE’s regulation model in both the regional and distribution 
networks.   
  
Network operators are obliged to include the cost of drawing power from the overhead network in their 
tariffs. Partly due to increased costs at Statnett, Hafslund increased its network rental for retail 
customers from 1 January 2018 by 2.20 øre per kWh. Despite price increased for power and an 
increased number of storms, network rental was not increased further in 2018 and consumers and 
business customers in Hafslund’s network area can still benefit from one of the lowest network rentals 
in Norway. According to NVE’s network statistics, at the start of 2018, Hafslund had a network rental of 
25.54 øre per kWh, compared to the Norwegian average of 29.36 øre per kWh before VAT and 
consumption charges.1 
 
While Hafslund has achieved good security of delivery in recent years, a high number of storms, 
including Storm Johanne, resulted in lower security of delivery than targeted in 2018 at 99.98 per cent, 
compared to target of 99.99 per cent.  
 
The Group is constantly working to optimise its operations and reduce costs. This benefits customers 
in the form of lower network rental, while simultaneously enabling the Group to achieve above industry 
average return on investment. The NVE’s target rate of return, which underpins the revenue cap and is 
intended to provide the industry with a reasonable rate of return on investments, was set at 6.1 per 
cent in 2018. Hafslund’s Networks operations generated a return of 9.7 per cent. Thanks to cost-
effective operations and high delivery quality, Networks consequently achieved a significantly higher 
operating profit and return than the Norwegian industry average in 2018. At the end of 2018, Networks 
had an NVE capital of NOK 10.9 billion (NOK 9.8 billion) and capital employed of NOK 13.3 billion 
(NOK 12.6 billion). At the same time, Hafslund including other activities had capital employed of NOK 
13.5 billion (NOK 12.4 billion). 
 
In addition to the roll-out of automatic meters (AMS), Networks implemented several automation and 
digitalisation measures to achieve cost reductions, more efficient operations and an improved 
customer interface in 2018. Networks gained 19,400 new customers during the year, bringing the total 
number of customers at year-end to 728,500.  
 
Cash flow, financial position and capital 
Operating profit before depreciation (EBITDA) was NOK 1,481 million in 2018 (NOK 1,629 million). 
The group paid taxes and interest totaling NOK 236 million (NOK 396 million). The working capital at 
the end of 2018 was NOK 28 million lower than at the end of 2017 (NOK 593 million), while other 
operational cash flow effects amounted to NOK -70 million (NOK 55 million). This resulted in a cash 
flow from operations of NOK 1,204 million in 2018 (NOK 1,881 million). 
 
Net cash flow from investing activities was NOK -1,525 million in 2018 (NOK -1 569 million). The 
Group is in a period of high investments driven by the AMS project and upgrades in the distribution 
and regional networks. In 2018, gross investments amounted to NOK 1,580 million (NOK 1,574 
million), corresponding to 218 per cent of depreciation (234 per cent). 
 
With the payment of dividend in 2018 of NOK 335 million (NOK 722 million), net cash flow for 
repayment of debt was NOK -656 million (NOK 2,938 million). 
 
At the end of 2018, the Group had total assets of NOK 15,438 million (NOK 15,323 million). The 
recognised value of fixed assets was NOK 12,782 million (NOK 11,937 million). The increase in fixed 
                                                      

1 https://www.nve.no/reguleringsmyndigheten-for-energi-rme-marked-og-
monopol/nettjenester/nettleie/nettleiestatistikk/nettleiestatistikk-for-husholdninger/  
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assets is a result of high investment activity. The AMS project is in the final phase, and the ordinary 
roll-out stages of AMS meters have been completed. By the end of 2018, the project had installed 
670,000 meters, while 15,000 meters remained. The project is expected to be completed during the 
first quarter of 2019. New customers connected to the network during the AMS rollout period, as well 
as replacement of meters that have previously been common, have not been handled through the 
AMS project, but the customers concerned have also received AMS meters. 
 
Equity in the Group as of 31 December 2018 was NOK 5,150 million (NOK 4,762 million), which 
corresponds to an equity ratio of 33 per cent (31 per cent). 
 
At the end of 2018, net interest-bearing debt was NOK 7,161 million, while the credit key figures net 
interest-bearing debt / EBITDA and FFO / net interest-bearing debt were 4.8x and 17 per cent, 
respectively. The Group has a robust financing structure with long-term, committed drawing facilities. 
At the end of 2018, the group had unutilized credit facilities of NOK 2,502 million, and no financial 
covenants related to loan agreements. 
 
Outlook for the coming year   
At the end of 2018, the Group had accumulated surplus income of NOK 283 million, compared to NOK 
387 million at the end of 2017. The reduction in accumulated surplus income is partly attributable to 
Hafslund’s desire to keep the network rental charge as stable as possible. Assuming normal energy 
demand, planned network tariffs and forward power prices, as well as planned maintenance and cost 
changes, the operating profit for 2019 is expected to become 10–15 per cent higher than in 2018. 
 
The Group is in the final phase of a period of extensive investments due to the roll-out of automatic 
meters and upgrades to the distribution and regional networks and total investments in 2018 
amounted to NOK 1,580 million in 2018 (NOK 1,602 million). The investment forecast for the AMS 
project has been reduced from NOK 2,100 million to NOK 1,800 million. The reduction is primarily 
attributable to higher-than-planned installation efficiency, and no unexpected cost-increasing events. 
Investments are expected to be scaled back from 2019 to a level sufficient to cover maintenance and 
expansion once the AMS project has been completed. Investments for 2019 are expected to be 
around NOK 1,300 million.  
 
 

Corporate social responsibility  
Hafslund is responsible for all consequences caused by the Group’s operations with regards to the 
external environment, working conditions, human rights and other social issues. Hafslund constantly 
strives to promote the Group’s values to employees, suppliers and partners.  
  
Material areas for corporate social responsibility 
The Group wants their operations to be sustainable and strives to ensure that the impact on the 
environment and society is as positive as possible. 
 
To distinguish material areas within social responsibility from other important areas, a materiality 
analysis has been carried out. The analysis is based on what is considered material for the Group and 
for the Group's stakeholders. The analysis highlights both risks and opportunities and has identified 
four areas that are crucial for strategic goal achievement: 
 

• Reliable supplier of renewable energy 
• Ethical business behavior and competence in focus 
• Environmental impact (including climate change, electrification and effect on the external 

environment) 
• Responsible supply chain and local value creation 
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Reliable supplier of renewable energy 
Society expects an uninterrupted supply of energy at all times. In 2018, Hafslund achieved security of 
supply equivalent to 99.98 per cent, taking into account both planned and unplanned events. This 
means that, on average, the Group’s customers were without electricity for 88 minutes of which 22 
minutes were planned and notified. Hafslund Nett is among the network operators in Norway with the 
lowest percentage network losses and the fewest interruptions.  
 
Ethical business behavior and competence in focus 
The Group’s code of conduct governs the work on ethics and anti-corruption. All employees must 
behave with respect and integrity towards their colleagues, business associates, customers or others 
with whom they come in contact through their work.  
 
The Group’s ambition is to be an attractive place to work and aims to have a working environment 
based on loyalty and trust – and a corporate culture that attracts, and further develops competent and 
motivated employees. Job satisfaction and a good working environment are crucial if the Group is to 
retain competent employees. Hafslund therefore conducts extensive employee satisfaction surveys on 
a regular basis, normally every other year, to gain insight into how our employees perceive their job 
and the Group culture. 
 
With regards to ethical conduct, the Group’s code of conduct requires Hafslund’s employees and 
board members to avoid situations that may give rise to personal and/or financial conflicts of interest. 
To facilitate reporting of events of concern, Hafslund, through its owner, Hafslund E-CO, has a 
dedicated whistleblowing channel. 
 
Environmental impact 
As a networks operator, Hafslund affects the environment mainly within three areas, climate change, 
electrification and the external environment. 
 
Climate changes 
Delivering renewable energy is the Group's most important contribution to combat climate change. 
The Group’s CO2 emissions related to day-to-day operations are largely related to unplanned 
emissions of sulphur hexafluoride (SF6), a harmful greenhouse gas used as an insulation and cut-off 
medium in switching stations. In 2018, network facilities contained 26,827 kilograms of SF6, and 
emissions totalled 40 kilograms, compared to 39 kilograms in 2017. Reducing emissions of SF6 is a 
priority area in the Group and there are ongoing initiatives examining alternatives to this potent 
greenhouse gas. 
 
In addition to minimising emissions from day-to-day operations, the Group aims to limit greenhouse 
gas emissions from administration and transport. The Group is therefore actively using emission-free 
vehicles in operations where possible and makes extensive use of video conferencing to limit business 
travel. Emissions from flights, helicopter use, electricity consumption and fuel for cars and machines 
fluctuate from year to year depending on the level of activity. 
 
Electrification 
Hafslund contributes to the electrification of society, especially in the field of electrification of transport. 
The Group is facilitating an extensive use of electric vehicles in the network area, right from the 
overhead network and out to the end customer. Hafslund is in close contact with and assists various 
operators of public transportation, as well as private customers, housing cooperatives and other 
providers of charging stations by facilitating services and providing solutions. The Group is also 
working on the electrification of construction sites and will, according to plan, help make Oslo become 
one of the first cities in the world to have fully electric construction sites during 2019.  
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External environment 
The energy system of the future will be based solely on renewable, carbon-neutral energy sources. 
Hafslund plays an important role as a distributor of renewable energy to the customers and works 
continuously to ensure that this is done with as little impact as possible for the environment when 
establishing new lines and upgrading existing networks. 
 
Hafslund still has a number of high voltage powerlines that use oil as an insulating medium. If this type 
of cable is damaged, oil can seep into the ground or watercourses. In 2018, the Group refilled 2,196 
litres of cable oil, against 1,667 litres in 2017. There have been no reports of harm to fish or birds as a 
result of oil discharges in 2018. 
 
The impact on the external environment from Hafslund’s other activities largely derives from buildings, 
transport and externally sourced services, including transport and contracting activities. Hafslund 
works continuously to minimise the negative effects of these activities. 
 
Responsible supply chain and local value creation 
Hafslund is committed to maintaining high ethical standards in all operations. By showing respect and 
responsibility, the goal is to build a good reputation, both internally and in society at large. Hafslund 
has implemented the Oslo model, which is an umbrella term for a number of credibility provisions that 
are included in contract terms for the purchase of goods, services and construction. 
 
The Group places strict requirements on suppliers of all goods and services. All suppliers and their 
subcontractors must conduct their business in accordance with nationally and internationally 
recognised principles and guidelines (related to human and labour rights, corruption, health, safety 
and the environment). The Group carries out purchases in line with good business practice and in 
accordance with the Norwegian Public Procurement Act and the Norwegian Regulations concerning 
Supply Sector Purchases.  
 
Hafslund has established a separate code of conduct for suppliers based on international ILO and UN 
conventions. The Group wants to take a more active social responsibility role for the environment and 
the social impact of the value chain the Group is a part of and efforts to influence suppliers and 
partners to reduce emissions, improve environmental management and secure good social conditions 
will be intensified going forward. 
 
The Group's purchasing principles stipulate that: 
 

• Hafslund shall, as far as possible, together with the suppliers, find good environmental and 
climate solutions. 

• Hafslund requires suppliers to be registered with UNCE2 (formerly Sellicha) to qualify for 
delivery of goods and services to the Group’s major projects, and only suppliers with 
environmental management systems are used. 

In 2018, Hafslund introduced credibility requirements to counteract workplace crime and social 
dumping in the construction industry. The requirements are designed to ensure decent working 
conditions for employees and contractors, limit the number of participants in the supply chain and 
provide for an increase in apprenticeships and trained professionals. These requirements have been 
well received among the suppliers. Suppliers are followed up to ensure compliance with the 
requirements. 

                                                      

2 UNCE is a qualification scheme for the energy industry that carries out HSEQ audits (health, safety, environment and quality) 
and project audits on behalf of the member companies. The audits comply with the ISO 19011 standard. 
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The Group also engages with society in other ways, among other through support for children and 
young people's activities, humanitarian work, innovation and profiling. 
 

HSE 
Lost-time injuries 
Hafslund shall be a safe workplace. The Group has a zero vision for injuries and works systematically 
to reduce the number of injuries. Reporting of undesired incidents and close follow-up of serious 
incidents and near misses are a key part of the Group’s systematic HSE work.  
 
In total, 8 lost-time injuries and 10 injuries where no absenteeism was required were registered among 
Hafslund employees and suppliers working at Hafslund sites in 2018. This corresponds to an injury 
rate of 4.4 lost-time injuries per million hours worked (H1 indicator) and a total injury frequency 
(number of lost-time and injuries without absenteeism per million hours worked (H2 indicator)) of 9.9. 
All lost-time injuries in 2018 were supplier related.  
 
Sick leave 
Hafslund aims for an overall sick leave rate below 3.5 per cent. In 2018, sick leave was 4.3 per cent. 
The Group has implemented measures in areas where sick leave has been high, including training 
and follow-up for managers, and targeted measures for individuals. Joint professional and social 
activities contribute to promote a common culture and maintain a good working environment.  
 
Employee development 
Hafslund aims to establish a leading centre of competence by developing the existing team and attract 
necessary new talents. The competence of the Group’s employees is a key success factor and a 
prerequisite for continuous value development. Hafslund facilitates human resource development and 
systematically enhances the development of managers and employees. The Group has introduced a 
competence management process, which is intended to strengthen performance management, 
promote strategic competence development and identify future competence requirements.  
Recognising future needs will enable the Group to take the right measures to develop and attract the 
required expertise going forward. In 2018, the Group focused on digital expertise. In line with strategic 
ambitions, the Group intends to step up future training activities.  
 

Government relations and framework conditions  
For Hafslund to be able to create long-term value and help realise a renewable and fully electric 
society, it is critical that central decision-makers receive good input regarding the impact of official 
framework conditions. In this way, Hafslund may contribute to better political and regulatory decisions. 
   
Need for stable framework conditions 
To ensure that renewable energy has a climate value, it must reach consumers and replace fossil 
energy sources both in and outside the Nordic market. For businesses exposed to competition, 
market-based, technology-neutral and predictable tools must be further developed to enable climate 
goals to be achieved in the most cost-effective manner possible. Even after the upgrade to automatic 
meters has been completed, the networks operators face major investments and probable industry 
consolidation in the coming years. Stable, long-term regulation will be critical to securing efficient 
operations and realisation of the right socio-economic investments.  
 
Socio-economic effects of equalisation of the network rental 
In the Norwegian State Budget for 2019, the Storting (the Norwegian parliament) asked the 
government to investigate how the network rental could be equalised for all consumers through 
optimal organisation of the power network. Based on NVE’s reports on the overall regulation of the 
power network, the Ministry of Petroleum and Energy concluded that equalisation of the tariffs across 
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the networks companies would reduce incentives for efficient networks operations by weakening the 
link between the network operators’ costs and customers’ network rental, which consequently might 
result in higher prices for society as a whole. Hafslund believes that equalising network rentals would 
reduce companies’ incentives to keep costs down. In addition, customers would not receive the right 
price signals about where it is most socio-economically profitable to locate, and the incentives to 
realise benefits-of-scale through industry consolidation would be reduced. 
  
Risk management 
Hafslund is exposed to risk in many areas. The most important risks are of a financial, regulatory and 
political, operational and reputational nature. Risk management is an integral part of the Group’s 
business activities and is designed to secure achievement of strategic and operational goals. 
Guidelines and frameworks have been established for the management of risk. The Group’s overall 
risk is assessed by the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors of the parent company, Hafslund 
E-CO.  
 
The purpose of risk management is to take the right risk based on the Group's risk capacity and ability, 
expertise, financial strength and development plans. 
 
Financial risk 
Hafslund is exposed to financial risk in several areas and risk is monitored and managed by the 
finance department in the parent company, Hafslund E-CO. 
 
Interest and exchange rate risk 
Interest rate exposure on loans must be viewed in the context of natural interest rate hedging, since 
interest rate exposure related to the reference rate for Hafslund’s revenue ceiling is sought correlated 
with interest on the loan side. Most of the Group’s revenues derive from network rental denominated in 
NOK. Costs are mainly incurred in NOK. The Group may enter into loan agreements and other 
agreements in foreign currency where appropriate.  
 
Credit and counterparty risk  
Credit and counterparty risk is the Group’s risk of losses resulting from counterparties/customers not 
being able to fulfil their obligations. The Group is exposed to credit and counterparty risk, through the 
distribution of electricity to end consumers, and in connection with financing activities. The introduction 
of re-invoicing of network rentals implies that the majority of network rental income now is received 
through the suppliers of power. This counterparty risk is managed using guarantees and routines have 
been established to follow up the exposure. 
 
Counterparty risk relating to trading in interest rates and foreign currency is limited by defining lower 
limits for approved counterparties’ credit ratings, and by distributing exposure over several 
counterparties. Historically, the Group has experienced low losses on receivables. 
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to service its financial obligations as they 
mature. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk to the extent that cash flows from the business do not 
correspond with financial obligations. Hafslund’s cash flows fluctuate in line with factors such as 
seasonality and investment levels.  
 
The Group’s strategy for managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient liquid funds at all times so that 
financial obligations can be serviced on maturity, also in the case of extraordinary events, without 
risking unacceptable financial or reputational loss. 
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The liquidity risk is minimised by analysing expected cash in- and outflows and assumption of new 
short- and long-term borrowings. The Group has established long-term, committed drawing facilities to 
secure available liquidity, also in periods when it may be difficult to obtain financing in the markets. At 
the end of December 2018, unutilised drawing rights amounted to NOK 2,502 million (NOK 3,002 
million). The Group also has a liquidity reserve in the form of bank deposits, and unutilised bank credit 
facilities of NOK 200 million. 
 
Regulatory and political risk 
Hafslund operates licensed activities, subject to regulation from NVE and other authorities. 
Consequently, the Group is impacted by regulatory changes in many areas. Regulatory and statutory 
changes can potentially have a major impact on future financial results and the Group closely monitors 
these risks through continuous analyses of the regulatory framework.  
 
Networks is a licensed, natural monopoly subject to direct regulation in the form of specific 
requirements and obligations, and incentive-based regulation in the form of income regulation. 
Network operators’ annual income cap is determined each year by NVE, and fluctuations may result 
from changes in the regulatory model and/or changes in the parameters included in the model.  
 
Operational risk 
Hafslund is exposed to operational risk. The greatest operational risk is related to ongoing operations 
and project implementation, and line managers are responsible for the day-to-day risk management. 
The Group manages operational risk through systematic maintenance, detailed operational 
procedures, controls, contingency plans, etc. and aims to leverage artificial intelligence, machine 
learning and data from sensors to make better operational, maintenance and investment decisions 
going forward.  
 
The Group has entered into insurance agreements, including property damage insurance.  
 
Network activities are exposed to security of supply risk, and the Group closely monitors cybersecurity 
in line with digital developments in the power system. Hafslund participates in KraftCERT, a centre of 
excellence for the energy industry that assists its members with regards to safety-critical ICT events. 
The Group did not experience any targeted attacks in 2018, nor any non-targeted attacks that 
compromised security. Hafslund has established systems for registering and reporting critical 
conditions, undesired incidents and injuries. Analyses are performed on an ongoing basis with a view 
to evaluating and planning any required measures. 
 
Internal control 
Internal control is a key part of risk management at Hafslund, and an area the Group continuously 
work to improve and strengthen. The Group has internal functions for risk monitoring, internal control 
and compliance with laws and regulations, and engages external expertise to carry out internal control 
and internal audit projects where necessary.  
 
Financial reporting risk is a high priority area, and the Group has dedicated roles, responsibilities and 
duties for accounting processes. Procedures and routines have been established for reporting, 
including controls and documentation. Control activities target areas of material risk of errors in the 
financial statements. Hafslund has systems and expertise to produce accurate and efficient financial 
reporting.  
 
All the Group’s companies are subject to legislation, regulations, regulatory requirements, and internal 
guidelines. Risk management related to compliance with laws and regulations is a constant focus 
area. Risk management is a line responsibility with support from specialist functions. Internal 
awareness programmes are used to reinforce knowledge and secure compliance in key areas such as 
data protection. Hafslund shall be a responsible player, and compliance is safeguarded by identifying 
risks and implementing risk-reducing measures.  
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The integration of Hafslund AS and E-CO Energi Holding AS has highlighted some differences 
between the business areas with regards to internal control procedures. These will be analysed and 
harmonised in 2019. 
 
 
Corporate governance 
Hafslund AS owns 100 per cent of the shares in Hafslund Nett AS and Hafslund Handel AS.  
Hafslund AS is wholly owned by Hafslund E-CO AS, which is wholly owned by the City of Oslo. 
 
The Board has adopted principles for corporate governance in line with the Norwegian Code of 
Practice for Corporate Governance as of 17 October 2018 (“NCGB recommendation”) and the City of 
Oslo’s principles for sound governance of limited companies. These principles are intended to support 
the owner’s profitability targets and contribute to long-term value creation, as well as secure the 
owner’s and other stakeholders’ trust in the Board, management and the company. A declaration on 
corporate governance in accordance with section 3-3b of the Norwegian Accounting Act can be 
viewed on the company’s website.  
 
 

The work of the Board of Directors 
Before the integration of Hafslund AS and E-CO Energi Holding AS, the board of directors of Hafslund 
AS consisted of Hilde Tonne, Bente Sollied Storehaug, Odd Håkon Hoelsæter, Jeanette Iren Moen, 
Bjørn Erik Næss, and employee representatives Per Orfjell, Per Luneborg and Tommy Linder. This 
board held 4 board meeting in 2018. 
 
At an extraordinary general meeting 4 September 2018 Tore Olaf Rimmereid, Per-Arne Torbjørnsdal 
and Andreas Løvendahl Wik were elected board members. This board held no board meetings in 
2018.  
 
 

Dividends and appropriation of profit for the year 
Hafslund AS posted a profit after tax of NOK 293 million in 2018. Dividend is determined each year in 
consultation with the owner so as to maintain the company’s capital requirements and credit quality. 
The Board will propose to the Annual General Meeting of 23 April 2019 that a dividend of NOK 390 
million be paid for the 2018 accounting year. The Board proposes that Hafslund’s net profit for the year 
be appropriated as follows: 
 

Net profit for the year in Hafslund AS’s financial statements  NOK 293 million 

 

Appropriations: 

Proposed dividend from Hafslund AS to Hafslund E-CO AS 

 

 

NOK -390 million 

From other equity NOK -97 million 

 
 

https://www.hafslund.no/artikler/eierstyring-og-selskapsledelse/styrende-organer/15IOC73pccuIQKiwysUAi4
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Going concern assumption 
In accordance with the requirements of the Norwegian Accounting Act, the Board confirms that the 
annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the going concern principle and 
that the company satisfies these conditions. 
 
 

Outlook3  
Hafslund is Norway’s largest network company. Hafslund’s earnings are influenced by the relative cost 
efficiency compared to the rest of the Norwegian networks industry, interest rate fluctuations and 
changes in public regulations. Cost-efficiency has been a long-standing focus area for Hafslund, and 
in 2018 the Group achieved its goal of becoming the most efficient networks operator in Norway. 
Going forward Hafslund will continue to concentrate on ongoing growth and improvement initiatives 
within digitalisation and automation to further improve operational efficiency and maintain the leading 
position. To achieve the goal of having the industry’s most satisfied customers, Networks will prioritise 
digitalisation of the customer interface going forward.  
 
The expected average investment level in the period 2019–2022 will be around NOK 1.3 billion. This is 
down from the period 2016–2018 due to the completion of the roll-out of automatic meters, but still 
higher than the deprecation rate due to significant investments in upgrades of the distribution and 
regional networks.  
 
The Group will continue to pursue existing organic growth opportunities and seek out new areas for 
both organic and structural growth. One of Hafslund’s goals is to leverage the commercial 
opportunities offered by the transition to a renewable and fully electric society.  
 
Hafslund will also contribute to industry consolidation by identifying structural growth opportunities. In 
2018, the Group’s owner, Hafslund E-CO, signed a letter of intent with Eidsiva Energi concerning a 
potential merger of the two companies. The boards of Hafslund E-CO and Eidsiva in March 2019 
agreed on a draft agreement for the merger. The negotiated draft is in line with the letter of intent and 
will be proposed for approval by the companies’ boards during the second quarter of 2019. Given 
owner acceptance in both companies and the necessary regulatory approval, the transactions are 
expected to be completed in the third quarter of 2019. Hafslund’s owner, Hafslund E-CO will, after a 
completed transaction, own 50 per cent of new Eidsiva, which in turn will own the networks operations 
in today’s Hafslund Nett and Eidsiva Nett. The transaction will facilitate further consolidation in the 
industry, support strong centres of competence and facilitates further development of the companies.  
 
The Group’s owner also started talks with Fredrikstad Energi on a potential acquisition or merger 
which may influence the Group structure. Hafslund is also assessing other structural projects and 
opportunities. Consolidation will strengthen the ability to compete and increase the Group’s profitability 
through realisation of scale effects, improve the operational efficiency, and increase the speed of 
digitalisation. This will contribute to reduced network rental for consumers and businesses alike and 
the ability to offer competitive solutions going forward.  
 

                                                      

3 The Board of Directors points out that significant uncertainty normally attaches to consideration of future conditions.  
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Hafslund aims to be one of the power industry’s most innovative companies in the years to come. This 
will require the Group to spearhead work to digitalise the electrical value chain. This value chain could 
potentially become the heart of Oslo’s infrastructure, and contribute to the creation of a smart city, with 
smart construction sites, smart public transportation solutions and pave the way for a renewable and 
fully electric future.  
 

 

Oslo, 10 April 2019 
 

The Board of Directors of Hafslund AS 
 

 
Tore Olaf Rimmereid 

Chair 

 

 
Per-Arne Torbjørnsdal 

 

 

 
Andreas Løvendahl Wik 

 

 

 

 

Kjell Arne Hansen 

CEO 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

   

NOK million Note 2018 2017

Sales revenue 2.1 5,516                4,983                

Other operating income 2.1 105                   186                   

Revenue 2.1 5,621                5,169                

Energy purchases and transmissions 2.2 -2,891               -2,278               

Salary and other personnel expences 2.3 -308                  -346                  

Property tax and licensing fees 2.4 -50                    -15                    

Other operating expenses 2.5 -847                  -912                  

Income/loss from associated companies 3.5 -45                    10                     

EBITDA 1,481                1,629                

Depriciation and amortisation 3.1, 3.2, 3.3 -724                  -672                  

EBIT 758                   957                   

Interest income 5.12 6                       5                       

Interest expenses 5.12 -195                  -228                  

Other financial income/expenses 5.12 14                     22                     

Net financial items -175                  -201                  

Profit before tax 582                   756                   

Income tax 6.1 -99                    -143                  

Profit continued operations 483                   612                   

Profit from discontinued operations 8.2 -                    3,702                

Profit for the year 483                   4,315                

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO

Owners of Hafslund AS 483                   4,315                

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 

Change in fair value of financial instruments -                    -4                      

Currency translations differences -                    -8                      

Income tax effects -                    1                       

Sum items that may be reclassified to profit profit or loss -                    -11                    

Items that may not be reclassified to profit or loss

Actuarial ganins (losses) in defined benefits plans 269                   66                     

Income tax effects -59                    -16                    

Sum items that may not be reclassified to profit or loss 210                   50                     

-                    

Other comprehensive income for the year 210                   39                     

Total comprehensive income for the year 693                   4,354                

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO

Owners of Hafslund AS 693                   4,354                
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Consolidated statement of financial position 

 

NOK million Note 2018 2017

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 3.1 12,782 11,937

Intangible assets 3.2 624 624

Equity-accounted investees 3.5 279 285

Non-current receivables 5.8 587 294

Non-current assets 14,272 13,141

Inventories 30 73

Trade receivables 5.9 228 244

Other non-interest-bearing current receivables 5.9 745 723

Shares 2 19

Short-term derivatives 5.4 1 18

Cash and cash equivalents 5.10 160 1,105

Current assets 1,166 2,182

Assets 15,438 15,323

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Paid-in capital 2,016 2,016

Retained earnings 3,134 2,746

Equity 5,150 4,762

Interest-bearing non-current debt 5.2, 5.3 4,864 6,523

Deferred tax 6.1 1,049 1,089

Pension liabilities 7.2 63 75

Non-current liabilities 5,976 7,686

Trade payables 5.11 306 320

Short-term non-interest-bearing liabilities 5.11 1,298 1,358

Taxes payable 6.1 189                 -                  

Current interest-bearing debt 5.2, 5.3 2,519 1,197

Current liabilities 4,312 2,875

Equity and liabilities 15,438 15,323
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 

 

 

 

  

  

NOK million 2018 2017

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before depreciation (EBITDA) 1,481              1,629              

Gains/losses om disposal of operating assets -10                  -5                    

Changes in inventories 43                   2                     

Changes in trade receivables and other non-interest-bearing receivables -2                    131                 

Changes in trade payables and other current non-interest-bearing liabilities -13                  460                 

Other non-cash income and expenses -60                  60                   

Cash flows from operating activities 1,440              2,277              

Interest paid -237                -300                

Taxes paid 1                     -96                  

Net cash flows from operating activities  - continuing operations 1,204              1,881              

Net cash flows from operating activities - discontinued operations -                     1                     

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Investment in property, plant and equipment -1,580             -1,574             

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment, etc. 17                   -

Other investment activities 38                   5                     

Cash flows from investment activities - continuing operations -1,525             -1,569             

Cash flows from investment activities - discontinued operations -                     1                     

CAHS FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

New interest-bearing debt 900                 279                 

Repayment of interest-bearing debt -1,197             -2,684             

Other financicng activities 8                     -

Dividends paid and other equity transactions -335                -722                

Cash flows from financing activities -624                -3,127             

Changes in cash and cash equivalents -945                533                 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 1,105              572                 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 160                 1,105              
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

 

 
 

Oslo, 10 April 2019 
The Board of Directors of Hafslund AS 

 

 

 

 

Tore Olaf Rimmereid     Per-Arne Torbjørnsdal  

Chair 

 

  

 

Andreas Løvendahl Wik    Kjell Arne Hansen 

CEO 

 

 
  

NOK million Share capital
Share 

premium Other equity
Equity attributable to 
owners of the parent

Non-controlling 
interests Total equity

Equity at 1 January 2017                    195       4,080                       5,292                            9,567                              4                    9,571 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 2017

Profitf for the year                      -               -                         4,315                            4,315                             -                      4,315 

Other comprehensive income                      -               -                              39                                 39                             -                           39 

Total comprehensive income for the year                      -               -                         4,354                            4,354                             -                      4,354 

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS

Ordinary dividends for 2016                      -               -                           -634                              -634                             -                       -634 

Additional dividends                      -               -                        -7,034                           -7,034                             -                    -7,034 

Demerger                    -89      -2,195                          774                           -1,510                             -                    -1,510 

Change in treasury shares                      25             -                               -                                   25                             -                           25 

Disposal of non-controlling interests                      -               -                               -                                    -                               -4                         -4 

Other changes in equity                      -0             -0                             -6                                  -6                             -                           -6 

Total transactions with owners                    -64      -2,195                      -6,900                           -9,159                             -4                  -9,163 

Equity at 31 December 2017                    131       1,885                       2,746                            4,762                             -                      4,762 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 2018

Profitf for the year                      -               -                            483                               483                             -                         483 

Other comprehensive income                      -               -                            210                               210                             -                         210 

Total comprehensive income for the year                      -               -                            693                               693                             -                         693 

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS

Ordinary dividends  for 2017 -                   -          -335                        -335                             -                          -335                    

Effect of associated companies -                   -          39                           39                                -                          39                        

Other changes in equity -                   -          -10                          -10                               -                          -10                      

Total transactions with owners -                   -          -305                        -305                             -                          -305                    

Equity at 31 December 2018 131                   1,885      3,134                      5,150                           -                          5,150                   
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Note 1.1 General information 
Hafslund AS was established on 4 August 2017 after Hafslund ASA had been de-listed from the Oslo 
Stock Exchange, and Hafslund AS had been de-merged from Hafslund ASA. The Hafslund Markets, 
Hafslund Heat and Hafslund Production business areas were sold to Fortum, E-CO and the City of 
Oslo effective 4 August 2017. Following the transaction, Hafslund AS’s main business comprises 
Hafslund Nett. Hafslund AS also owns and part-owns network and energy companies in Østfold. 
 
The company’s head office is in Oslo. The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue 
by the company’s Board on 10 April 2019.  
 
 

Note 1.2 General accounting policies 
Basis of preparation of the annual financial statements 
The consolidated financial statements for Hafslund AS for 2018 have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU.  
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, with the 
exception of some assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value. Please see Note 5.5 Fair value 
for a more detailed description. Preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRSs requires 
the use of estimates and judgements. Items significantly impacted by judgements or assumptions and 
significant estimates are described in the relevant notes.  
 

Currency 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Norwegian kroner (NOK), which is the parent 
company’s and the subsidiaries’ functional currency. All amounts are stated in NOK million unless 
otherwise stated. Items denominated in foreign currency in the statement of financial position are 
translated at the exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Foreign currency transactions are 
translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.  
 
Current and non-current presentation 
Assets are classified as current when they are: 

• Expected to be realised as part of the Group’s ordinary business cycle 
• Held for sale as the main purpose 
• Expected to be realised within 12 months of the reporting period, or 
• Constitute cash or cash equivalents not restricted for more than 12 months. 

All other assets are classified as non-current. 
 
Liabilities are classified as current when they are: 

• Expected to be settled as part of the Group’s ordinary business cycle 
• Held for sale as the main purpose 
• Expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting period, or 
• The Group has the right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 

All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 
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Note 1.3 Changes in standards and interpretations 
The Group’s assessment of the impact of new standards, and changes in existing standards and 
interpretations are listed below. 
 
IFRS 16 Leases 
IFRS 16 Leases applies to annual financial statements for accounting periods beginning on or after 1. 
January 2019. Hafslund will apply the standard from 1 January 2019, using the modified retrospective 
transition method, where the accumulated effect of initial application of IFRS 16 is adjusted against 
retained earnings as at 1 January 2019. The comparative figures are not amended as a result of the 
transition to IFRS 16 applying this method. 
 
Right-of-use assets will be recognised at the value of the lease obligation as at 1. January 2019, 
except for some major leases where the right-of-use asset will be recognised as if IFRS 16 has always 
been applied. 
 
The Group has evaluated the effect of the implementation of IFRS 16 as described below. Actual 
effects of the implementation of the standard may be subject to change due to further amendments of 
the new accounting policies until the Group presents its first financial statements that include the date 
of initial application. 
 
IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance-sheet lease accounting model for lessees. Effective 1 
January 2019, Hafslund will recognise a right-of-use asset that represents its right to use the 
underlying asset and a lease liability that represents the obligation to make lease payments. 
 
IFRS 16 replaces existing leases guidance, including IAS 17 Leases and IFRIC 4 Determining 
Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease. 
 
The Group will recognise new assets and liabilities for its operating leases for office premises, 
transformer substations and other assets. The nature of expenses related to those leases will now 
change because the Group will recognise a depreciation charge for the right-of-use asset and interest 
expense on lease liabilities. Options that grant the right to extend or terminate the lease are taken into 
account and reflected in the calculation of the minimum lease term in cases where it is deemed 
reasonably certain that the option will be exercised. A similar evaluation is made of purchase options 
on the underlying asset. 
 
The Group has no finance leases. 
 
Based on the information currently available, the Group estimates that it will recognise lease liabilities 
of about NOK 1.2 billion and right-of-use assets of about NOK 1 billion at 1 January 2019. Based on 
these estimates, the effect on equity as at 1 January 2019 will be around NOK 0.2 billion, taking into 
account the effect of deferred taxes.  
 
Leases in which the Group is a lessor 
The Group’s activities as a lessor are limited. Consequently, no significant impact on the consolidated 
financial statements is expected for leases in which the Group is a lessor. 
 
Other standards and interpretations 
The Group does not expect changes in other standards and interpretations to have a significant 
impact on the Group’s financial statements but will assess the impact when transactions and events 
arise that are affected by these changes. 
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Note 2.1 Revenue 
Key accounting policies 
The Group implemented IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers from 1 January 2018 and 
applied the full retrospective method of application. IFRS 15 has not resulted in any material changes 
to the Group’s method of revenue recognition. The total effect of implementation was not material for 
the Group and had no effects on equity at the time of implementation. 
 
The Group’s revenue mainly comprise revenue from network rentals. 
 
The main principles for revenue recognition for Hafslund’s revenue streams are described below. 
 
Revenue from network activities 
Permitted income 
Electrical power is distributed through distribution networks, which is a natural monopoly. The 
regulatory authority is the Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate (NVE). NVE 
establishes the framework for permitted income for network companies in Norway, which is intended 
to ensure that the industry as a whole receives a reasonable return on invested capital. Permitted 
income for Hafslund Nett mainly comprises the company’s own framework for permitted income and 
rental costs of the overhead network (Statnett). 
 
Network rental/actual revenue 
Customers pay a network rental fee for access to the supply network and for distribution of electrical 
power.  
 
The aggregate network rental mainly comprises fixed component revenue, power revenue and energy 
revenue (network rental multiplied by transmitted volume in the supply network). The total of this 
revenue is referred to as actual revenue from network activities and it is this amount that is recognised 
as revenue for network activities in the consolidated financial statements. Network rental represent the 
compensation the Group receives from customers for ongoing access to the power network. Revenue 
is recognised based on the right to invoice the customer. 
 
Income surpluses/shortfalls 
There are many reasons why permitted income may differ from actual revenue. Higher actual revenue 
than permitted income gives rise to income surplus and vice versa. In accordance with IFRSs, income 
surpluses/shortfalls are defined as a regulatory liability or asset that does not qualify for balance sheet 
recognition. This is justified on grounds that a liability or receivable is not linked to a contract with a 
particular customer, and that settlement of the receivable or liability is dependent on future deliveries. 
The network rental is determined based on the premise that over time actual revenue will correspond 
to permitted income. At the end of 2018, the Group had accumulated surplus income of NOK 283 
million, compared to NOK 387 million at the end of 2017. 
 
Investment contributions 
Networks also receives revenue from investment contributions that are paid by the relevant customer 
to cover actual expenses in connection with the establishment of new network connections or 
strengthening the network for existing customers. Investment contributions are deemed to be a 
separate delivery obligation that is recognised as revenue as the network connection is realised.   
 
Sales of electricity required for supply - power revenue 
The Group is obliged to supply electricity to network customers that do not have an agreement with a 
power supplier. Revenue recognition is based on the right to invoice the customer, which is at the time 
of delivery.  
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Revenue from contracts with customers and other revenue is specified as follows: 

  

 

The table below provides information on contract balances at 31 December.  

  

 
Earned, non-invoiced revenue consists of network rental revenue of NOK 679 million (NOK 631 
million) and revenue from mandatory supply of electricity of NOK 25 million (NOK 6 million) and is 
regarded as revenue as the group has unconditional right to receive payment. 
 
The Group did not have any remaining performance obligations as of 31 December 2018.  
 

Performance obligations and principles for revenue recognition: 

Performance obligation Revenue recognition principle 

Network rental/actual revenue Based on the right to invoice the customer (over time) 

Investment contributions As the network connection is realised (over time) 

Electricity required for supply Based on the right to invoice the customer (at the time of 

delivery) 
 

Key estimates and assumptions 
Recognition of investment contributions is an area that involves significant use of judgement. 
Individual customers must cover the full cost, without add-ons, of providing or reinforcing the network 
for their use through an investment contribution. Hafslund treats the deliverable covered by the 
investment contribution as a separate performance obligation. This performance obligation is 
recognised as revenue as the network connection is realised. The expenses included in the 
investment contribution are not included in the network capital, and therefore do not give rise to 
returns in later periods. These expenses do therefore not qualify as assets for accounting purposes.  

NOK million 2018 2017

REVENUE

Sales of electricity 184                 133                 

Investment contributions 299                 232                 

Network rental/actual revenue 5,033              4,618              

Sales revenue 5,516              4,983              

Other operating income 105                 186                 

Revenue 5,621              5,169              

NOK million 2018 2017

CONTRACT BALANCES AT 31 DECEMBER

Receivables included in trade receivables (note 5.9) 224                 211                 

Earned, non-invoiced revenue (note 5.9) 704                 637                 

Receivables at 31 December 928                 848                 
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In previous years, costs relating to investment contributions were presented as other operating costs. 
Since 1 January 2018, expenses relating to investment contributions are presented as cost of sales, 
and the comparative figures for 2017 have been re-presented accordingly.  
 
If investment contributions had not been regarded as a separate performance obligation, but as part of 
the subsequent deliverable for distribution of electricity, this may have resulted in a different revenue 
recognition profile. 
 
The implementation of IFRS 15 has not resulted in any change in equity as at 1 January 2018. 
 

Note 2.2 Energy purchases and transmission 

 

Transmission expenses primarily relate to feed-in costs to the overhead network. 

 

Note 2.3 Salaries and other personnel expenses 

 

Pension costs are discussed in more detail in Note 7.2 Pensions. 

  

NOK million 2018 2017

ENERGY PURCHASES AND TRANSMISSION EXPENSES

Energy purchases   645                 437                 

Transmission expenses 1,946              1,610              

Acquisition of goods and services for customer invoicing 299                 232                 

Energy purchases and transmission expenses 2,891              2,278              

NOK million 2018 2017

SALARIES AND OTHER PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Wages and salaries 203                 238                 

Employers' national insurance contributions 48                   46                   

Pension costs 31                   40                   

Other payroll expenses 26                   22                   

Salaries and other personnel expenses 308                 346                 
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Note 2.4 Property tax and license fees 
Key accounting policies 
Property tax is classified and recognised under operating expenses in the income statement in the 
year it is levied.  
 

 

Property tax is calculated based on valuations determined in accordance with Section 8 of the 
Norwegian Property Tax Act. The tax rate is a maximum of 0.7 per cent. 
 

Note 2.5 Other operating expenses  

 

In 2018, auditors’ fees were recognised totalling NOK 3.0 million (NOK 3.8 million). The fees break 
down as follows: NOK 1.8 million (NOK 1.6 million) for statutory auditing, NOK 0.2 million (NOK 1.3 
million) for other certification services, NOK 0.04 million (NOK 0.4 million) for tax consultancy services 
and NOK 1.0 million (NOK 0.5 million) for non-auditing services. Other advisory services include 
among others, disposal of companies in 2017 and assistance in connection with the establishment of 
the Hafslund E-CO Group and related affairs in 2018. Value Added Tax is not included in the fee 
specification. 
 
 
  

NOK million 2018 2017

PROPERTY TAX AND LICENCE FEES

Property tax 50                  15                  

Property tax and licence fees 50                  15                  

NOK million 2018 2017

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Maintenance 452                 471                 

Purchase of external services 81                   81                   

Office expenses 186                 174                 

Insurance 5                     6                     

Sales and marketing expenses 4                     6                     

Loss on receivables 21                   24                   

Other items 98                   149                 

Other operating expenses 847                 912                 
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Note 3.1 Property, plant and equipment 
Key accounting policies 
Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairments. 
When assets are sold or divested, the carrying amount is deducted and any gain or loss is recognised 
in the income statement. 
The cost of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price, including levies/taxes and costs 
directly related to preparing the non-current asset for use. 
 
Borrowing costs attributable to procurement, design or production of a qualifying asset are added to 
the cost. A qualifying asset is an asset that requires a long time to be prepared for its intended use or 
for sale, for example, a hydropower plant. 
  
Expenses incurred after an operating asset has been taken into use, such as ongoing maintenance, 
are recognised in profit or loss, while other expenses (periodic maintenance) that are expected to 
generate future economic benefits are capitalised. The carrying amount of replaced parts is deducted 
and recognised in profit or loss. 
 
The depreciation period and method are assessed annually, and any changes are recognised as 
estimate changes. 
 
Facilities under construction are classified as property, plant and equipment and recognised at cost 
until they have been completed. Facilities under construction are not depreciated until they are ready 
for use. For details of impairment principles for property, plant and equipment, please see note 3.3. 
 
Key estimates and assumptions 
Property, plant and equipment is depreciated over the operating asset’s expected useful life. Expected 
useful lives are estimated based on experience, history and discretionary judgements relating to 
technical use and profitability and are adjusted to reflect any changes in expectations. Residual value 
is taken into account in determining depreciation, and assessments of residual values also make use 
of estimates. 
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Hafslund has capitalised borrowing costs of NOK 17 million for qualifying assets in 2018 (NOK 24 
million). The weighted average interest rate on borrowings have been applied. For assessments 
relating to impairments, please see Note 3.3 Impairment testing. 
 
 

Note 3.2 Intangible assets 
Key accounting policies 
Intangible assets, which in Hafslund consist of goodwill, are recognised at cost. Goodwill is not 
amortised but is tested for impairment annually.  
 
For details of principles relating to impairment of goodwill, please see note 3.3.  

NOK million
Power stations and 

dam fecilities Networks

Technical 
equipment and  

chattels Other property
Facilities under 

construction
Property, plant and 

equipment

At 31 December 3,981 9,331 708 101 1,658 15,779

2017

Balance at 1 January 3,981 9,331 708 101 1,658 15,779

Operating investments 0 791 755 0                    56 1,602
Net adjustments relating to disposal -3,981 21 -126 -94 -593 -4,772
Depreciation for the year 0 -509 -163 0 0 -672
Balance at 31 December 0 9,634 1,175 8 1,121 11,937

At 31 December
Cost 134 17,366 2,485 8 1,121 21,113
Accumulated depreciation -100 -7,732 -1,248 0 0 -9,081
Accumulated impairment -34 0 -62 0 0 -96
Balance at 31 December 0 9,634 1,175 8 1,121 11,937

2018
Balance at 1 January 0 9,634 1,175 8 1,121 11,937
Operating investments 0 837 814 0 -70 1,580
Acquisition and disposal of business 0 -8 0 0 0 -8
Depreciation for the year 0 -510 -214 0 0 -724
Other items 0 0 -4 0 0 -4
Balance at 31 December 0 9,953 1,770 8 1,051 12,782

At 31 December
Cost 0 18,092 2,740 13 1,051 21,896
Accumulated depreciation 0 -8,139 -970 -5 0 -9,114
Accumulated impairment 0 0 0 0 0 0
Balance at 31 December 0 9,953 1,770 8 1,051 12,782

Depreciation period (number of years) 10-50 3-30 100/
No depreciation No depreciation
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Note 3.3 Impairment testing 
Key accounting policies 
Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill are monitored for indications of potential 
impairment on a continuous basis. Cash-generating units with intangible assets with an indefinite 
useful life and goodwill are tested for impairment annually. If there are indications of impairment, 
impairment tests are immediately performed. If these tests indicate that the carrying amounts can no 
longer be justified, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount. Impairment tests are 
carried out by identifying and discounting (to value-in-use) cash flows relating to the cash-generating 
units applying a risk-adjusted, market-based rate of return.  
 
In assessing impairments, non-current assets are grouped at the lowest level where it is possible to 
identify independent cash inflows (cash generating units/CGUs).  
 
Investments in companies recognised using the equity method are tested for impairment whenever 
there are indicators of potential impairment. An impairment charge is recognised for investments if 
their recoverable amount, estimated as the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is 
lower than the carrying amount.  
At each reporting date, it is assessed whether there is any basis for reversing previous impairment 
losses of property, plant and equipment. Previous impairment losses of goodwill are not reversed.  
 
Key estimates and assumptions 
Cash-generating units 
The Group has defined the networks business as a single cash-generating unit. Impairment tests are 
carried out by calculating the present value of future cash flows from the cash-generating unit, which 
are then tested against associated carrying amounts. 
 
Estimation uncertainty 
The Group has significant property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, including goodwill. 
Changes in these assets are presented in note 3.1 and 3.2. Estimation uncertainty attaches to 

NOK million Waterfall rights Goodwill

Total intangible assets less 
customer portfolios and 

customer purchase orders 
disposed of in 2017

2017
Balance at 1 January 253 2,436 2,689
Disposals -253 -1,812 -2,065
Balance at 31 December 0 624 624

At 31 December
Cost 0 624 624
Accumulated impairment 0 0 0
Balance at 31 December 0 624 624

2018
Balance at 1 January 0 624 624
Other items 0 0 0
Balance at 31 December 0 624 624

At 31 December
Cost 0 624 624
Accumulated impairment 0 0 0
Balance at 31 December 0 624 624
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property, plant and equipment and goodwill, since both the valuation and the estimated useful lives of 
these assets are based on future information, which is hard to predict with a high degree of certainty. 
Intangible assets are deemed to present the highest degree of uncertainty. Goodwill is a residual and 
arises from acquisitions. 
  
The Group’s cash-generating units are tested for impairment each year. The Group assesses whether 
there are any indications of potential impairment each quarter. If there are any indications of 
impairment, impairment tests are immediately performed. 
 
Assessing indicators of potential impairment involves discretionary judgements. Typical indicators of 
potential impairment include changes in market prices, agreements, negative events or other 
operating conditions.  
 
Calculations of value-in-use are based on discretionary judgements and assumptions concerning 
future cash flows, the most important of which relate to the regulatory regime and return requirements.  
 
Budgeting and forecasting assumptions 
The impairment tests carried out for 2018 are based on the budget for 2019, as adopted by the Board. 
Forecasted cash flows for a period of 30 years are applied, before the terminal value is established. 
This is due to long-term changes in regulatory efficiency (DEA) and the NVE interest rate in the 
income framework model, as well as planned future investment levels. It is assumed that the current 
framework for permitted income model will be continued until the terminal year.  
 
Discount rate 
The applied discount rate is based on the company’s cost of capital, which in turn is based on a 
weighted average return requirement for equity and loan capital. The return on equity requirement is 
estimated using the capital asset pricing model (CAPM). The return on loan capital requirement is 
estimated based on the long-term risk-free interest rate plus a credit margin derived from Hafslund’s 
marginal long-term interest rate. The discount rate is adjusted for the expected debt-to-assets ratio 
and business risk for the individual cash-generating unit. A pre-tax discount rate in the range 5.1 per 
cent (5.0 per cent) has been applied.  
 
Sensitivity 
The Group has carried out sensitivity analyses examining the consequences of changes in various 
assumptions for the recoverable amount. Scenarios examined include a: 
 

• About 20 per cent decrease in the NVE interest rate 
• Lower efficiency (DEA) 
• 20 per cent increase in the discount rate 

The Group showed strong resilience in the performed sensitivity tests. Impairment tests carried out in 
2018 justified the balance sheet values for property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and 
goodwill. 
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The table below shows carrying amounts at the end of 2018: 
 

 

 

Note 3.4 Lease commitments 
Key accounting policies 
At 31 December 2018, Hafslund’s future lease payments primarily relate to office buildings and 
transformer substations. 
 
Lease agreements where all the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have not been 
substantially transferred are classified as operating leases. All the Group’s leases are operating leases 
with varying payment terms, price regulation clauses and rights to prolongation and purchase. Lease 
payments are classified as operating expenses and are recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. The Group does not have any finance lease agreements.  
 

 

In 2018, an amount of NOK 124 million (NOK 145 million) was recognised in profit or loss for leases of 
office buildings, transformer substations and other assets. 
 
 

Note 3.5 Equity-accounted investees 
Key accounting policies 
The Group’s equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associates which are entities over 
which Hafslund exerts significant influence, but not control. Significant influence will generally exist 
when the Group has a shareholding of between 20 and 50 per cent of the voting rights.  
 
All the Group’s investments in associates are recognised in accordance with the equity method. 
Investments are recognised at cost at the time of acquisition, and the Group’s share of the results in 
subsequent periods is recognised in income or expenses. Amounts recognised in the statement of 
financial position include any implicit goodwill identified at the time of acquisition, less any subsequent 
impairments. On the reduction of a shareholding in an associate where the Group retains significant 
influence, only a pro rata-share of amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income is 
reclassified to profit or loss.  

NOK million 2018

RECOGNISED VALUES SUBJECT TO TESTING

Property, Plant and Equipment 12,782                   

Goodwill 624                       

Values tested for impairment 13,406                   

NOK million 2018 2017

FUTURE LEASE COMMITMENTS AND OPERATIONAL LEASES

Less than one year 124                120                

Between one and five years 692                805                

More than five years 78                  89                  

Total future lease commitments and operational leases 893                1,013             
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The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised under Share of 
profit/loss from equity-accounted investees, which is included in the Group’s operating profit and 
added to the recognised value of the investment. The Group’s share of other comprehensive income 
of the associate is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the value 
of the investment recognised in the statement of financial position is adjusted accordingly. When the 
Group’s share of losses in an associate equal or exceeds its interest in the associate, including 
doubtful receivables for the entity, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.  
 
At the end of each accounting period, the Group determines whether there is any need to recognise 
an impairment loss on the investment in the associate. In such cases, the impairment loss is 
measured as the difference between the recoverable amount of the investment and its recognised 
value under Share of profit/loss from equity-accounted investees. 
 
In the event of any gains or losses on transactions between the Group and its associates, only the 
proportionate share relating to external shareholders is recognised. Unrealised losses are eliminated 
unless there is a need to recognise an impairment for the asset that was the subject of the transaction. 
The financial statements of associates have been restated where necessary to ensure consistency 
with the policies adopted by the Group. 
 
Dilution gains and losses arising on investments in associates are recognised in profit or loss. 
The Group presents its shareholdings in associates under in the consolidated statement of financial 
position under Equity-accounted investees.  
 
Key estimates and assumptions 
Based on an overall assessment considering size and complexity, Fredrikstad Energi AS is deemed to 
be a material associate. None of the associates are listed or have observable market values. 

 

Company name Acquisition 
date Office Shareholding Voting share

Rakkestad Energi AS 2001 Rakkestad 33 % 33 %

Trøgstad Energiverk AS 2014 Trøgstad 49 % 49 %

Kraftcert AS 2014 Lysaker 33 % 33 %

Fredrikstad Energi AS 2014 Fredrikstad 49 % 49 %

Energy Future Invest AS 2012 Gjøvik 50 % 50 %



  Annual report 2018 

31 
 

 

Fredrikstad Energi AS is a Norwegian energy group primarily engaged in construction, operation and 
maintenance of the network and the sale of energy, primarily in local markets. Fredrikstad Energi AS is 
headquartered in Fredrikstad. 
 
The Group recognised an impairment loss on its shareholding in Energy Future Invest AS, which owns 
shares in Norwegian Crystals AS (“NC”). The Group has also recognised an impairment loss on its 
direct shareholding in NC. Both investments had been written down to 0 (zero) as of 31. December 
2018. The total impairment loss in profit or loss was NOK 55.1 million, of which NOK 38.2 million in 
Share of profit/ loss from equity-accounted investees and NOK 16.9 million in Other financial 
income/expenses. 
 
Hafslund sold its holdings in Glommens og Lågens Brukseierforening in 2017. 
 
 

Note 4.1 Guarantees 
The Group purchases bank guarantees to secure certain liabilities. At the reporting date, these 
guarantees comprised NOK 26 million in employees’ tax deduction guarantees (NOK 21 million), NOK 
34 million in rental guarantees (NOK 51 million) and NOK 1 million in contract and payment 
guarantees (NOK 0.5 million). 
 
  

NOK million Fredrikstad Energi AS Others Total

BALANCE AT 1 JANUARY 2018 189                        96                   285                

Share of profit after tax -17                         -36                  -53                 

Depreciation excess values 9                            -1                    8                    

Other changes in equity 40                          -1                    39                  

Balance at 31 December 2018 220                        58                   279                

NOK million Fredrikstad Energi AS Others Total

BALANCE AT 1 JANUAR 2017 198                        137                 335                

Share of profit after tax -                         10                   10                  

Depreciation excess values 9                            -8                    1                    

Buyout minority -8                           -                  -8                   

Addition/disposal -                         -42                  -42                 

Dividend -10                         -                  -10                 

Balance at 31 December 2017 189                        96                   285                
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Note 5.1 Financial instruments 
Key accounting policies 
Financial instruments are recognised when the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. The Group early-adopted IFRS 9 in 2017. 
 
Classification and measurement 
Financial assets and liabilities are classified in three categories: amortised cost, fair value through 
other comprehensive income and fair value through profit or loss. The classification is dependent on 
the method of initial recognition and the valuation is based on the Group’s business model for 
management of its financial instruments and the characteristics of the cash flows for the individual 
financial instrument.   
 
Financial instruments are not reclassified after initial recognition unless the Group changes its model 
for management of its financial assets. 
 
Amortised cost 
Financial assets that the Group holds to collect contractual cash flows are recognised at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. The main instruments in this category are trade 
receivables, other receivables and bank deposits.  
 
Financial liabilities are recognised at fair value and as a main rule subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. Financial liabilities such as trade payables, bond loans, commercial papers and other 
loans are classified at amortised cost, with the exception of two loans that are measured at fair value 
with subsequent changes in value through profit or loss.   
 
The effective interest method is used to calculate amortised cost.  
 
Fair value through other comprehensive income 
The Group has two loans that are measured at fair value. Changes in fair value attributable to changes 
in inherent credit risk are recognised through other comprehensive income, while the remaining 
change in value is recognised through profit or loss. 
 
Fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value with subsequent changes through profit or loss, 
apart from the cases mentioned in the two sections above.    
 
Financial liabilities that are not classified at amortised cost or that are not designated as hedging 
instruments are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently at fair value through profit or loss.  
 
Impairment 
The Group recognises provisions for expected credit losses for financial assets that are not classified 
at fair value.  
 
Derecognition of financial instruments 
A financial asset is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 
the Group has transferred its rights to collect cash flows from the asset and the Group either has 
transferred all substantive risks and rewards relating to the instrument, or the Group has not 
transferred or retained all substantive risks and rewards relating to the instrument but has transferred 
control of the asset.  

A financial liability is derecognised when it has been redeemed, cancelled or matures. When an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another liability to the same lender on materially different 
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terms, or the provisions for an existing liability have changed significantly, this is treated as a 
cancellation of the original liability and a new liability is recognised. The difference between the 
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.  

Offsetting of financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount is reported, in the statement of 
financial position if there is a legally enforceable right to offset, and there is an intention to settle net 
before the assets and the liabilities are realised. 
 

 
  

NOK million

Assets and 
liabilities at fair 

value through 
profit or loss

Derivatives 
used for 
hedging 

purposes

Assets and 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
Total

2018

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Other non-current assets  -  - 587 587

Shares and other financial holdings 2  -  - 2

Current financial derivatives 1  -  - 1

Trade receivables  -  - 228 228

Other non-interest-bearing current receivables  -  - 745 745

Cash and cash equivalents  -  - 160 160

Financial assets 3  - 1,720 1,723

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Current interest-bearing debt 818  - 1,701 2,519

Non-current interest-bearing debt  -  - 4,864 4,864

Trade payables  -  - 306 306

Other current non interest-bearing liabilities  -  - 1,298 1,298

Financial liabilities 818  - 8,170 8,988
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Discussion of key matters 
In 2018, changes in value of loans at fair value including changes in fair value attributable to changes 
in inherent credit risk amounted to NOK -40 million (NOK -56 million). Changes in fair value 
attributable to changes in inherent credit risk in 2018 and 2017 were immaterial.    

NOK million

Assets and 
liabilities at fair 

value through 
profit or loss

Derivatives 
used for 
hedging 

purposes

Assets and 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
Total

2017

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Other non-current assets  -  - 294 294

Shares and other financial holdings 19  -  - 19

Current financial derivatives 18  -  - 18

Trade receivables  -  - 244 244

Other non-interest-bearing current receivables  -  - 723 723

Cash and cash equivalents  -  - 1,105 1,105

Financial assets 36  - 2,367 2,404

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Current interest-bearing debt 783  - 414 1,197

Non-current interest-bearing debt 868  - 5,655 6,523

Trade payables  -  - 320 320

Other current non interest-bearing liabilities  -  - 1,358 1,358

Financial liabilities 1,651  - 7,747 9,398
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Note 5.2 Interest-bearing debt  
 

 

The table above shows first the nominal value of the loan before the effect of fair value adjustment on 
the loans measured at fair value. The fair value adjustment is stated on a separate line.  
 
See also note 5.4.  
 

 

 

NOK million Loan amounts Currency Due date 2018 2017

Hafslund AS

Bond issue on the Norwegian market 769 NOK 2018 769

Bond issue on the Norwegian market 500 NOK 2019 500 500

Certificate on the Norwegian market 500 NOK 2019 500

The Nordic Investment Bank 1,322 NOK 2019-2030 1,322 1,742

Bond issue on the Norwegian market 500 NOK 2019 500 500

Bond issue on the Norwegian market 600 NOK 2019 600 600

Bond issue on the Norwegian market 305 NOK 2019 305 305

Bond issue on the Norwegian market 750 NOK 2020 750 750

Bond issue on the Norwegian market 300 NOK 2020 300 300

Bond issue on the Norwegian market 400 NOK 2020 400

Bond issue on the Norwegian market 750 NOK 2021 750 750

Bond issue on the Norwegian market 400 NOK 2022 400 400

Bond issue on the Norwegian market 300 NOK 2023 300 300

Bond issue on the Norwegian market 450 NOK 2024 450 450

Bond issue on the Norwegian market 293 NOK 2024 293 293

Interest-bearing debt translated to NOK 7,370 7,659

Fair value adjustment loan portfolio 13 61

Interest-bearing debt, balamce at 31 December 7,383 7,720

Hereof, balance of current interest-bearing debt 2,519 1,197

Hereof, non-current interest-bearing debt 4,864 6,523

NOK million 2018 2017

Short-term interest-bearing debt at 1 January 1,197 2,193

New short-term borrowings 500 0

Repayment of short-term interest-bearing debt -1,197 -2,193 

Transfers from long-term interest-bearing debt 2,019 1,197

Other changes to short-term interest-bearing debt  -  - 

Short-term interest-bearing debt at 31 December 2,519 1,197

Long-term interest-bearing debt at 1 January 6,523 7,997

New long-term borrowings 400 279

Repayment of long-term interest-bearing debt  - -500 

Transfers to short-term interest-bearing debt -2,019 -1,197 

Other changes to long-term interest-bearing debt -40 -57 

Long-term interest-bearing debt at 31 December 4,864 6,523



  Annual report 2018 

36 
 

Note 5.3 Maturity structure, financial liabilities 
The Group’s interest-bearing debt has the following maturity structure: 
 

 

 

The tables show undiscounted cash flows for each interval.  

The Group’s loans are divided into floating and fixed interest rates as follows: 

 

Note 5.4 Financial risk management 
Hafslund’s business is exposed to risk in a number of areas. The most important of these are of a 
market, regulatory, financial, operational, reputational and political nature. Risk management is an 
integral part of the Group’s business activities and is designed to secure achievement of strategic and 
operational goals. Guidelines and frameworks have been established for the management of risk. The 
Group’s overall risk is assessed by the Audit Committee of the parent, Hafslund E-CO, and its Board 
of Directors. The purpose of risk management is to take the right risk based on the Group’s risk 
capacity and ability, expertise, solidity and development plans. 

NOK Million Within 12 
months 1 to 3 years More than 3 

years 31.12.2018

2018

Interest- and currency derivates -                  

Interest-bearing debt 2,791              2,073              4,864              

Accounts payable and other short term debt 1,604              1,604              

Interest-bearing short-term debt 2,519              2,519              

Hafslund AS 4,123 2,791 2,073 8,987

Short-term interest-bearing debt in balance sheet 2,519

Long-term interest-bearing debt in balance sheet 4,864

Total 7,383

NOK million Within 12 
months 1 to 3 years More than 3 

years 31.12.2017

2017

Interest- and currency derivates -                  

Interest-bearing debt 3,210              3,313              6,523              

Accounts payable and other short term debt 1,678              1,678              

Interest-bearing short-term debt 1,197              1,197              

Hafslund AS 2,875 3,210 3,313 9,398

Short-term interest-bearing debt in balance sheet 1,197

Long-term interest-bearing debt in balance sheet 6,523

Total 7,720

NOK million Floating Fixed rate 31.12.2018

Hafslund AS 2018 5,115 2,268 7,383

NOK million Floating Fixed rate 31.12.2017

Hafslund AS 2017 4,635 3,085 7,720
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Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk Hafslund is mainly exposed to interest rate risk through its financing activities in NOK 
currency (Note 5.2). The Group’s operating revenues and cash flows from operations are also 
sensitive to interest rate fluctuations to a limited degree. The Group is exposed to fluctuations in 
interest rates due to the fact that some of its interest-bearing debt is subject to floating interest rates. 
This exposure is primarily managed using instruments that balance the weighting of financing at 
floating and fixed interest rates. 
 
Under the current regulatory regime, the permitted return in the networks business is based on factors 
such as the annual average five-year swap interest rate plus an average credit spread for the year for 
bonds with a five-year term issued by power companies with good creditworthiness. Hafslund 
endeavours to reduce interest rate risk by correlating the interest rate exposure in the networks 
operations with interest on borrowings. 
 
Based on the Group’s interest rate exposure at the reporting date, a change in interest rates of ± 0.5 
percentage points over the entire curve would result in a change in the Group’s direct borrowing costs 
(adjusted for the tax effect) of approximately NOK 20 million. A significant share of the Group’s debt 
portfolio is quoted with NIBOR as the reference interest rate. This means that a future annulment of 
NIBOR would impact the Group’s interest rate exposure. 
 
Credit risk 
The Group is exposed to credit risk mainly through trade and other current receivables within its core 
activities. 
 
Network rental from customers are mainly paid to Hafslund Tellier AS (previously owned by Hafslund, 
now owned by Fortum), which invoices and collects network rental on behalf of Hafslund Nett. This 
entails a certain concentration risk. Following the introduction of re-invoicing in 2016, invoices for 
network rental are sent to the power supplier, who includes the network rental in a joint invoice for 
electricity and network rental to the customer. These invoices account for the majority of Hafslund 
Nett’s receivables. All power suppliers who perform re-invoicing must establish a bank guarantee for 
timely repayment of network rental. Networks’ trade receivables also include customers of power 
suppliers that do not offer re-invoicing, customers who receive concessionary power, and invoicing for 
other services.  
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to service its financial liabilities as they mature. 
The Group is exposed to liquidity risk to the extent that cash flows from operations do not correspond 
with financial liabilities. Hafslund’s cash flows vary in line with factors such as market prices, seasonal 
fluctuations and investment levels.  
 
The Group’s strategy for managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient liquid funds at all times so that 
financial liabilities can be satisfied on maturity, including for extraordinary events, without risking 
unacceptable financial or reputational loss. 
 
The Group’s interest-bearing debt and related maturity dates are presented in Note 5.2. The maturity 
structure for other financial liabilities, including current liabilities are presented in Note 5.3. Liquidity 
risk is minimised by analysing expected inflows and outflows and assumption of current and non-
current borrowings. To minimise refinancing risk, i.e. the risk of not being able to refinance a loan or 
cover a short-term liquidity requirement on normal commercial terms, the Group has established long-
term, committed drawdown facilities in order to secure availability of liquidity, including in periods when 
it may be difficult to obtain financing in the markets. At the reporting date, unused drawdown facilities 
amounted to NOK 2.5 billion (NOK 3.0 billion). 
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As additional security against turbulence in the finance markets and potential losses of financing 
sources, the Group has established (unused) bank credit lines of NOK 200 million. 
 
 

Note 5.5 Fair value 
Key accounting policies 
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
Fair value hierarchy: Fair value measurements are classified at the following levels: 
 

• Level 1: Valuation is based on listed prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
• Level 2: Valuation is based on inputs other than listed prices covered by Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset, either directly or indirectly 
• Level 3: Valuation is based on non-observable inputs for the asset or liability. 

 
The Group endeavours to maximise the use of observable data where possible. 
 
Key estimates and assumptions 
When there is no listed market price in an active market, fair value is calculated by discounting future 
cash flows. Future cash flows are discounted based on the market interest curve, which is in turn 
derived from available interest swap rates. 
 
Loans at fair value are measured by discounting the loans’ cash flows. The discount rate applied is the 
interest rate curve for Norwegian swap interest rates plus Hafslund’s credit spreads. Changes in credit 
spreads during 2018 were immaterial compared to the fair value of the loan portfolio.  
 

 

 

2018

NOK million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair value at 
31.12.2018

Balance at 
31.12.2018

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

Interest - and currency derivatives -        1           -        1 1                   

Total financial assets measured at fair value -        1           -        1 1                   

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

Interest-bearing debt -        818        -        818 818               

Total financial liabilities measured at fair value -        818        -        818 818               

2017

NOK million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair value at 
31.12.2017

Balance at 
31.12.2017

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

Interest - and currency derivatives -        18          -        18                      18                 

Total financial assets measured at fair value -        18          -        18                      18                 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

Interest-bearing debt -        1,606     -        1,606                 1,606            

Total financial liabilities measured at fair value -        1,606     -        1,606                 1,606            
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Please see note 5.2 Interest-bearing debt for more information about the Group’s interest-bearing 
debt.   
 
The Group has two loans measured at fair value through profit or loss. Other loans are measured at 
amortised cost. The fair value of these loans is shown in the table below. The amortised cost of other 
financial liabilities measured at amortised cost approximately equal to their fair value. Financial assets 
measured at amortised cost primarily comprise of trade receivables not considered as IFRS 15-
receivables and other cost where amortised cost is considered to be approximately equal to fair value, 
see note 2.1 and 5.9. 

 

 
 
  

2018

NOK million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair value at 
31.12.2018

Balance at 
31.12.2018

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

Other current non-interest-bearing debt -        -        1,298     1,298                 1,298            

Trade payables -        -        306        306                    306               

Interest-bearing debt -        6,747     -        6,747                 6,565            

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised costs -        6,747     1,604     8,351                 8,169            

Interest-bearing debt measured at amortised cost 6,565            

Interest-bearing debt measured at fair value 818               

Interest-bearing debt at 31 December 2018 7,383            

Non-current interest-bearing debt 4,864            

Current interest-bearing debt 2,519            

Interest-bearing debt  31 December 2018 7,383

2017

NOK million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair value at 
31.12.2017

Balance at 
31.12.2017

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

Other current non-interest-bearing debt -        -        1,358     1,358                 1,358            

Trade payables -        -        320        320                    320               

Interest-bearing debt -        6,363     -        6,363                 6,114            

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised costs -        6,363     1,678     8,041                 7,792            

Interest-bearing debt measured at amortised cost 6,114            

Interest-bearing debt measured at fair value 1,606            

Interest-bearing debt at 31 December 2017 7,720            

Non-current interest-bearing debt 6,523            

Current interest-bearing debt 1,197            

Interest-bearing debt  31 December 2017 7,720            
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Note 5.6 Capital management 
Hafslund’s capital management is intended to ensure that the Group has financial flexibility in the short 
and long term and maintains a high credit rating. The Group aims to achieve cash flows that ensures 
competitive returns for the owner through dividends without disadvantaging the Group’s creditors.  
 
In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the Group’s liquidity reserve consists of unused long-term 
drawdown facilities. Hafslund has access to diversified loan sources and primarily uses bond loans, 
banks and Norwegian capital markets.  
 
The Group has long-term financing that ensures financial room to manoeuvre even when it is difficult 
to gain financing in the markets. The loan portfolio comprises a balanced mix of loans with a maturity 
structure at an average term of 2.4 years. The maturity structure of the Group’s interest-bearing debt 
and other financial liabilities are shown in notes 5.2 and 5.3. 
 
At the end of 2018, the Group had unused drawdown facilities deemed sufficient to cover the Group’s 
refinancing requirements over the next 12 months. External borrowing has been centralised at parent 
company level and the capital needs of the respective subsidiaries are normally covered through 
internal loans, primarily through corporate cash pooling systems, in combination with equity. The 
capital structure in the subsidiaries is adapted to commercial considerations, as well as legal and tax-
related considerations. The Group attaches importance to ensuring a balanced and reasonable capital 
composition that maintains reasonable equity based on the risk and scope of the business. 
 
The Group’s loan covenants prohibit the pledging of assets as loan security. Some loan agreements 
also stipulate that material assets cannot be disposed of without approval, while some have an 
ownership clause requiring more than 50 per cent of shares issued by Hafslund AS or Hafslund Nett 
AS to be directly or indirectly owned by the City of Oslo. This means that, in accordance with 
stipulated terms, lenders can demand that the loans be redeemed if the City of Oslo’s direct or indirect 
shareholding in these companies falls to 50 per cent or below. The Group’s loan agreements do not 
impose any other covenants.  
 
The Group does not have an official credit rating, but actively monitors quantitative and qualitative 
factors that affect the Group’s creditworthiness. Hafslund aims to maintain a credit profile 
corresponding to a credit rating of BBB+. The Group monitors its asset management by following the 
development of its equity ratio, net interest-bearing debt and cash flows from operations. The Group’s 
capital consists of net interest-bearing debt and equity. 
 
Hafslund is not subject to any external requirements with regards to the management of its capital 
structure other than with regards to market expectations and the owner’s dividend requirements. 
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Note 5.7 Share capital and shareholder information 
The share capital of Hafslund AS consists of one class of shares. 
  

 

All shares are owned by Hafslund E-CO AS. 
 
At 31 December 2017 all shares were owned by Oslo Energi holding AS, which is wholly-owned by the 
City of Oslo. In connection with the establishment of Hafslund E-CO AS and the integration of 
Hafslund AS and E-CO Energi Holding AS under this company, all the shares in Hafslund AS were 
transferred from Oslo Energi Holding AS to Hafslund E-CO AS. 
 

 

NOK million 2018 2017

NET INTEREST-BEARING DEBT

Current interest-bearing debt 4,851      6,462      

Non-current interest-bearing debt 2,519      1,197      

Non-current interest-bearing assets 49           -          

Cash and cash equivalents 160         1,105      

Net interest-bearing debt 7,161      6,554      

Unused drawing rights 2,702      3,002      

EQUITY SHARE (%)

Equity 5,150      4,762      

Assets 15,438    15,323    

Equity share (%) 33 % 31 %

NOK million Number of 
shares Share capital Other paid in 

capital Paid in capital

PAID IN CAPITAL

At 31 December 2017 194,922,974 131 1,885 2,016

Change in 2018 - - - -
At 31 December 2018 194,922,974 131 1,885 2,016

NOK million 2018 2017

DIVIDEND

Dividends paid 335 722
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Note 5.8 Non-current receivables 
Key accounting policies 
All non-current receivables mature more than one year from the balance sheet date. The fair value of 
non-current receivables corresponds to their book value. 
 

 

Note 5.9 Trade and other current non-interest-bearing receivables 
Key accounting policies 
Accounts receivables contain both receivables that arise as a result of contracts with customers and 
other types of receivables. Receivables arising from contracts with customers are recognised at the 
agreed amount, reduced by expected credit loss. Other receivables and accruals are recognised at fair 
value and measured in subsequent periods at amortised cost.  
 
Key estimates and assumptions 
Key estimates and assumptions Inaccurate assessment of the customers’ ability to pay could result in 
losses on receivables that subsequently must be written down in profit or loss. The Group estimates 
and recognises a provision for expected losses based on historic figures. The Group deems the credit 
risk to be acceptable. 
 

 

See note 2.1 for further discussion of operating revenue and contract balances. 

NOK million 2018 2017

NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Non-current interest-bearing receivables 49               -             

Non-current non-interest-bearing receivables 125             128             

Net pension funds 414             167             

Non-current receivables 587             294             

NOK million 2018 2017

TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables 250 257

Allowance trade receivables -23 -13

Trade receivables 228 244

OTHER RECEIVABLES

Other current non interest bearing receivables 1 3

Accrued non-invoiced income 704 637

Accrued income/prepaid expenses 40 83

Other receivables 745 723
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Note 5.10 Cash and cash equivalents 
Key accounting policies 
Cash and cash equivalents include the Group’s liquid assets and comprise bank deposits and other 
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. 
 

 

Discussion of key matters 
The Group’s available cash and cash equivalents consist of bank deposits. Hafslund also has a bank 
overdraft facility of NOK 200 million. The overdraft facility was unused at the reporting date.  
 
Hafslund AS has syndicated drawdown facilities totalling NOK 2,502 million. Facility A is for NOK 504 
million maturing in December 2020 and Facility B is for NOK 1,998 million maturing in December 
2022. Both the facilities have an option for a one-year prolongation.  
 
The parent company, Hafslund E-CO AS, has a corporate cash pooling system with Nordea. A 
corporate cash pooling system entails joint and several liability among the participating companies. 
Hafslund E-CO AS’s accounts constitute single, direct accounts for transactions with its bank, while 
deposits into and withdrawals from the respective subsidiaries’ accounts are treated as intercompany 
balances with Hafslund E-CO AS.  
 
Hafslund purchases bank guarantees as security for tax deductions and other liabilities. Please refer 
to Note 4.1 Guarantees for further information.  
 
 

Note 5.11 Trade and other current non-interest-bearing liabilities 
Key accounting policies 
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary 
course of business from suppliers. The main rule is that trade and other current payables are classified 
as current if they fall due within one year. Trade and other current payables are measured at fair value 
in the balance sheet on initial recognition and subsequently at amortised cost. 
 
Key estimates and assumptions 
All forms of accruals/provisions involve a degree of estimate uncertainty and judgement. Provisions 
are recognised in other current liabilities based on management’s best estimates. 

NOK million 2018 2017

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank deposits 160 1,105

Cash and cash equivalents 160 1,105
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Note 5.12 Financial items  
Key accounting policies 
Interest income and interest expenses on loans and receivables are calculated using the effective 
interest method.  
 

 

NOK million 2018 2017

TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables 306             320             

Trade payables 306             320             

OTHER CURRENT NON-INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Public taxes and charges payable 786             824             

Accrued interest 82               114             

Accrued energy and transmission costs 7                2                

Other accrued costs 373             363             

Other current liabilities 48               56               

Other current non-interest-bearing liabilities 1,298          1,358          

NOK million 2018 2017

INTEREST INCOME

Interest income 6 5

Other financial income - -

Interest income 6 5

INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense -212 -252

Capitalised interest expense 17 24

Interest expense -195 -228

OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME/EXPENSES

Currency gains or losses 1 -1

Change in loans recognised at fair value 48 75

Other financial income or cost -35 -52

Other financial income/expenses 14 22

Net financial items -175 -201
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Note 6.1 Income taxes 
Key accounting policies 
In addition to general income tax, the Group also incurs property tax.  
 
The tax expense comprises taxes payable and changes in deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or 
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity. In such cases, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 
The tax expense is calculated on the basis of tax rates, legislation and rules enacted at the balance 
sheet date. Deferred tax is calculated on all temporary differences between the tax values and 
accounting values of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are only recognised in the balance 
sheet to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which the 
temporary tax-reducing differences can be utilised. 
 
Deferred tax is calculated based on temporary differences on investments in subsidiaries and 
associates except when the Group controls the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences, and 
it is probable that they will not be reversed in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax benefits and 
deferred tax liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to do so. 
 
The deferred tax assets related to tax losses carries forward are recognised in the statement of 
financial position to the extent that it is probable that the Group can utilise tax losses carried forward 
against future taxable income. 
 
General income tax 
The tax expense for general income tax comprises taxes payable and changes in deferred tax. Income 
tax payable is calculated at 23 per cent (24 per cent) of the taxable profit/loss. Deferred tax is 
calculated based on temporary differences between tax values and accounting values of assets and 
liabilities, as well as tax losses carried forward, applying a tax rate of 22 per cent (23 per cent). 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised at their nominal value and classified as non-current assets in the 
statement of financial position. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised at their nominal value and 
classified as non-current liabilities in the statement of financial position. Deferred tax assets that 
cannot be offset against deferred tax liabilities, including benefits relating to tax losses carried forward 
and negative resource rent income, are recognised in statement of financial position when it is 
probable that the Group will have sufficient taxable profits in later periods against which to utilise the 
deferred tax asset.  
 
Property tax 
The Group is subject to property tax and comprises up to 0.7 per cent of the official property valuation. 
Property tax is recognised as an operating expense in the income statement. Please see note 2.4. 
 



  Annual report 2018 

46 
 

 

 

The change in the effective general corporate taxation rate is primarily attributable to lower deferred 
tax liabilities at the reporting date following a reduction in the tax rate from 23 per cent to 22 per cent 
from 2019.  
 
(1) See note 9.2. 

NOK million 2018 2017

TAX EXPENSE

Income tax payable 189 5                    

Deferred tax on actuarial gains and losses directly to equity -59 -

Change in deferred tax liability/(asset) -40 139

Tax expense for the year 99 143

TAX PAYABLE

Tax payable 189 5

Repaid tax, change previous years - -5

Tax payable, balance at 31 December 189 -                     

NOK million 2018 2017

RECONCILIATION OF NOMINAL TAX RATE AGAINST EFFECTIVE TAX RATE

Profit before tax 582 756

23 % (24 %) of profit before tax 134 181

23 % (24 %) of permanent difference, dividends 65 -

23 % (24 %) of profit from equity accounted investees 11 -7

23 % (24 %) effect of temporary differences that are not offset -6 -

23 % (24 %) of actuarial gains and losses -59 -

Effect of provision for tax case, AMS meters (1) 12 -

Effect of non-recognised deferred tax liability/(asset) at 1 January 2018 (1) -8 -

Change in tax rate from 23 % to 22 % -59 -48

Too little (much) tax set aside previsou year 9 4

Other corrections, tax returns - 12

Total tax expense 99 143

Total tax expense, recognised amount 99 143
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(1) See note 9.2. 

Key estimates and assumptions 
Management assesses the positions adopted in the tax returns wherever the tax laws are subject to 
interpretation on an ongoing basis. Provisions are recognised for expected tax payments based on 
management assessments where such is deemed necessary. 
 

Note 7.1 Remuneration to senior executives and board members 
The Hafslund Group is managed through the group management of the Hafslund E-CO Group. 
Reference is made to note 7.1 Remuneration to senior executives and board members in the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements of Hafslund E-CO AS. The members of the Board of Directors of 
Hafslund AS do not receive board fees.  
 
 

Note 7.2 Pensions 
Group companies operate different pension plans organised through pension funds and insurance 
companies. The pension plans are generally funded through contributions made by the companies at 
levels largely determined on the basis of actuarial calculations. The Group operates both defined 
contribution and defined benefit plans. The defined benefit plans were closed on 31 December 2006. 
Employees recruited after this date have been enrolled in the applicable defined contribution plans. 
The companies have taken out disability pension insurance for employees with defined contribution 
pensions. At 31 December 2018, a total of 175 employees were covered by defined benefit plans 
through Hafslund pension fund. The pension fund also paid pensions to 976 individuals. In addition, 
the Group has defined contribution plans in various insurance companies. 
 

NOK million 2018 2017

DEFERRED TAX

General income tax

Current assets -20 -

Non-current assets 5,649 5,162

Current liabilities -61 -57

Allowance for liabilities -17 -

Income surplus / shortfall - -

Pensions 355 104

Total 5,907 5,210

Correction, basis for deferred tax provision AMS meters (1) -801 -

Tax losses carried forward -415 -475

Negative temporaty difference, not offset 77 -

Total 4,769 4,735

Tax rate 22 % 23 %

Total deferred tax liability/(asset) 1,049 1,089
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Pension assets are valued at fair value at the end of the year. Pension liabilities (net present value of 
pension benefits accrued at the reporting date adjusted for expected future salary increases) are 
valued in accordance with best estimates based on assumptions at the reporting date. The actuarial 
calculations of pension liabilities have been prepared by an independent actuary. The assumptions 
regarding salary growth, increases in pension payments, and adjustments to the National Insurance 
Scheme’s basic amount (G) are tested against historic observations, established collective 
agreements, and the relationships between individual assumptions. 
 
Employees who terminate their employment before reaching retirement age receive paid-up policies, 
which are managed by Hafslund pension fund. Hafslund is financially committed to adjusting these 
paid-up policies in line with increases in the National Insurance Scheme’s basic amount. From the 
time paid-up policies earned in other defined benefit plans are issued, Hafslund is released from 
further obligations towards the employee to whom the policy pertains. Assets and liabilities are valued 
at the time of issue of the paid-up policy and are separated from pension liabilities and assets. 

 
 

NOK million 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

LIABILITY RECOGNISED

Present value of accrued pension liabilities for funded defined benefit plans 1,876 2,033

Fair value of pension assets -2,289 -2,200

Actual net pension liabilities for funded defined benefit plans -414 -167

Present value of pension liabilities for unfunded plans 63 75

Net pension liabilities recognised (incl. Employer's National Isurance contributions) -351 -92

Net pension liabilities recognised -63 -75

Net pension assets recognised 414 167

CHANGES IN THE DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION LIABILITIES DURING THE YEAR

Pension liabilities at 1 January 2,108 2,684

Employer's National Insurance contribution 2 2

Present value of accrued pension entitlements for the year 20 16

Interest cost 47 44

Changes in estimates -66 -7

Benefits paid -108 -100

Liabilities on disposal and acquisition of business -63 -532

Pension liabilities at 31 December 1,938 2,108

CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF PENSION ASSET DURING THE YEAR

Fair value of pension assets at 1 January 2,200 2,633

Interest income 50 45

Changes in estimates 202 52

Total contributions 2 67

Total payments from fund -101 -98

Pension assets on settlements and acquisitions -63 -498

Fair value of pension assets at 31 December 2,289 2,200
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The discount rate is calculated on the basis of an interest rate curve that takes into account that 
pension payments will mature at different times in the future. The curve is calculated based on prices 
from the Norwegian Covered Bonds market as of 31 August 2018, as calculated by the Norwegian 
Accounting Standards Board. The annual salary increase is calculated based on a curve by reference 
to historical data. The salary increase is set to an average of 2.5 per cent over the service period for 
the population in the pension funds.  
 
Demographic assumptions that form the basis of the calculations are based on the IR73 disability rate 
table (restated using the intensity method) and the K2013BE mortality rate table.  
 
The actual yield on pension assets in 2018 amounted to NOK 251 million (NOK 128 million). 
 

 

The sensitivity of pension liabilities for changes in the weighted financial assumptions are:  

NOK million 2018 2017

MOVEMENT IN ACTUARIAL GAINS AND LOSSES RECOGNISED IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Accumulated amount recognised in other comprehensive income 1 Jauary, adjusted for deferred tax 
liabilities 406 357

Recognised in other comprehensive income in the period in accordance with the acruarial calculation 
before tax 268 66

Additions/disposals of subsidiaries during the period 0 -7

Accumulated amount recognised in other comprehensive income 674 416
Deferred tax liabilities related to actuarial losses recognised in other comprehensive income during the 
period -59 -10

Accumulated amount after tax recognised in other comprehensive income 615 406

THE FOLLOWING FINANCIAL ASSUMPTIONS HAVE BEEN APPLIED 2018 2017

Discount rate 2.6 % 2.3 %

Yield 2.6 % 2.3 %

Annual salary increase 2.8 % 2.5 %

Adjustment of National Insurance Scheme's basic amount (G) 2.5 % 2.3 %

Adjustment of current pensions, public plan 1.8 % 1.5 %

NOK million 2018 2017

Accrued pension benefits for the year 20 16

Net interest costs -4 -1

Employer's National Insurance contribution 3 2

Pension costs 19 18

Pension costs defined contribution plans 12 22
Total pension costs 31 40
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Pension assets are invested in bonds and money-market placements issued by the Norwegian 
government, Norwegian municipalities, financial institutions and businesses. Foreign currency bonds 
are hedged. Investments are made in both Norwegian and foreign shares. Any estimate deviation is 
distributed pro-rata between the individual asset categories. 
 
Pension assets comprise: 
 

 

 
In 2018 the plan’s contributions were invested as follows:  

 

 
In 2017 the plan’s contributions were invested as follows:  

 

 
Overview of pension liabilities and the fair value of pension assets related to funded plans:  
 

Change
Increase in 
assumption

 Decrease in 
assumption 

Discount rate 0,5  % -6,3% 7,1

Salary increase 0,5  % 1,3% -1,2%

Adjustment of National Insurance Scheme's basic amount (G) 0,5  % 5,8% -5,2%

Life expectancy 1 year 3.5 % -4,6%

IMPACT ON PENISON LIABILITIES

NOK million

Equity instruments 918 40 % 1,132 48 %

Interest-bearing instruments 1,371 60 % 1,243 52 %

Fair value pension assets 2,289 100 % 2,375 100 %

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

NOK million Listed prices Observable prices Non-observable prices Total

Equity instruments  - 633 285 918

Interest-bearing instruments  - 1,371  - 1,371

Total  - 2,004 285 2,289

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

NOK million Listed prices Observable prices Non-observable prices Total

Equity instruments  - 815 316 1,132

Interest-bearing instruments  - 1,243  - 1,243

Total  - 2,058 316 2,375
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Expected maturity for the defined benefit plans: 
 

 

 

Note 8.1 Consolidated companies 
Key accounting policies 
The consolidated financial statements include Hafslund AS and its subsidiaries. All enterprises over 
which the Group exercises control are deemed to be subsidiaries.  
 
The Group exerts control over an enterprise if and only if Hafslund has: 

• Power over the investee, 
• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and 
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns. 

 
Hafslund normally deems that it has control when the Group holds at least 50 per cent of the voting 
rights in an enterprise.  
 
If necessary, the subsidiaries’ financial statements are adjusted so that they are consistent with the 
Group’s accounting policies. Intercompany sales and balances, and gains and losses deriving from 
intercompany transactions, are eliminated.  
 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the time the Group achieves control and are de-consolidated from 
the time control ceases. 
 

 

There are no indirectly owned subsidiaries in the Group.  
 

Note 8.2 Business disposals 
2017 
On 3 July 2017, the City of Oslo made a voluntary offering for all the shares in Hafslund ASA through 
its wholly owned subsidiary Oslo Energi Holding AS. After the compulsory acquisition of the shares of 
minority shareholders, the shares were de-listed from the Oslo Stock Exchange. On 4 August 2017, 
Hafslund ASA implemented a spin-off pursuant to company law with continuity of shareholders’ shares 
and rights, in which all assets, rights and obligations, apart from those assets, rights and liabilities 
associated with Hafslund Produksjon, were spun off to the new company Hafslund AS.  
   

NOK million 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Present value of the defined benefit pension obligations 1,938 2,108 2,684 2,587 2,923

Fair value of pension assets 2,289 2,200 2,633 2,591 2,548

Premiums / coverage -351 -92 52 -3 375

NOK million < 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years > 5 years Total

2018 114                 110                 392                 1,322              1,938              

2017 110                 107                 404                 1,488              2,108              

Subsidiaries owned directly by Hafslund AS Offiice Stake Voting share

Hafslund Nett AS Oslo 100 % 100 %

Hafslund Handel AS Oslo 100 % 100 %
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From a company-law perspective Hafslund AS is the acquiring company in the spin-off described 
above. However, for consolidated accounting purposes the financial entity represented by the former 
Hafslund ASA Group is continued as the reporting entity. Since Hafslund AS acquired three of four 
business areas in the spin-off, the consolidated financial statements of Hafslund AS are deemed to 
represent a continuation of the former Hafslund ASA Group. Consequently, the values have not been 
remeasured in the Hafslund AS Group. The disposal of the power production segment is recognised in 
the consolidated financial statements as a reduction in equity as a result of the spin-off in the 
statement of changes in equity. The results of the power production business for the period 1 January 
2017 to the spin-off date are recognised under profit for the year - discontinued operations.  
 
Immediately after the spin-off, Hafslund AS sold 100 percent of the shares in the subsidiary Hafslund 
Marked AS and 50 per cent of the shares in the subsidiary Hafslund Varme AS to Fortum.  
The gain on the sale of the shares in Hafslund Market AS is recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements as the difference between the carrying amount in the Group and the consideration 
received. The results from the Markets segment for the period 1 January 2016 to the disposal date are 
recognised in the result from discontinued operations together with the gain. 
 
The sale of 50 per cent of the shares in Hafslund Varme AS is recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements as a sell-off with loss of control. The residual shareholding is measured at fair value, with 
the resulting upwards revaluation recognised in income. The results from the Heat segment for the 
period 1 January 2017 to the disposal date are recognised in the result from discontinued operations 
together with the associated gains. 
 
The residual 50 percent shareholding in Hafslund Varme AS, and receivables due from Fortum 
following the disposal of the shares in Hafslund Varme AS and Hafslund Marked AS, were distributed 
as a non-cash asset to Oslo Energi Holding AS as of 30 September 2017. This distribution is 
recognised at fair value in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
The consideration for all the above transactions was measured at fair value and subject to normal 
purchase sum calculations. The result from discontinued operations is based on purchase sum 
calculations available at the balance sheet date. Final purchase calculations and settlement were 
completed in the fourth quarter of 2017.  
 

Note 9.1 Related party transactions 
All subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements, as specified in notes 8.1 Consolidated companies 
and 3.5 Equity-accounted investees are deemed to be related parties of the Group. The Group’s 
management and Board are also defined as related parties, as specified in Note 7.1 Remuneration 
paid to senior executives and Board members. Transactions with subsidiaries are eliminated in the 
consolidated financial statements and are not disclosed in this note. 
 
Receivable on Fredrikstad Energi AS 
The Group has a long-term receivable from the associate Fredrikstad Energi AS in the form of a bond 
listed on the Nordic ABM. The loan matures on 19 December 2114. Fredrikstad Energi AS can 
redeem the loan the first time on 29 December 2025 (call date) and then every 5 years until maturity. 
The interest rate is 7 per cent until the call date in 2025 and thereafter 1-year NOK swap rate plus 
margin of 3.5 per cent. As of 10 years after the call date in 2025, the margin is increased to 4.5 per 
cent. The loan has a condition of so-called bypassed coupon payment if the interest coverage ratio 
falls below 2.5 per cent. 
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Other transactions 
Hafslund buys from and sells to related parties as part of normal business operations. In 2018, the 
Group purchased and sold goods and services to the City of Oslo. Examples of sales to the City of 
Oslo municipality are network rent. 
 
 

Note 9.2 Contingencies 
Tax treatment of expenses relating to the installation of new electricity meters 
Hafslund Nett AS, which is owned by Hafslund AS, has received a notice of reassessment from the 
Central Tax Office for the 2016 tax year. The notice relates to the tax treatment of costs of replacing 
old electricity meters with new automatic meters (AMS meters) and has been recognised in the 
financial statements for 2018. 
 
The tax office’s notice is essentially based on the Norwegian Tax Administration’s tax ruling 12/12 of 8 
May 2012. The tax ruling was issued to Hafslund Nett AS, but the company has not used this as a 
basis for its calculation. The ruling is therefore not binding for the company, see section 6-1 (3) of the 
Norwegian Tax Administration Act. In the company’s view, the tax ruling is based on a partially 
incorrect understanding of the function of the new AMS meters, and an incorrect legal interpretation of 
the conditions for regarding groups of operating assets as inventories, see section 14.40 (2) of the 
Norwegian Tax Act. 
 
Hafslund Nett does not accept the notice, and has appealed to the Tax Appeal Board, on the premise 
that the company has not changed its view or practice of directly deducting all costs of procurement 
and installation of AMS meters. Hafslund Nett AS has still prepared the 2018 accounts based on the 
tax authorities’ opinion. The company has recognized NOK 188 million as taxes payable due to tax 
capitalisation related to the AMS project for 2017 and 2018. At the same time deferred tax is reduced 
by NOK 176 million, so that the effect on the tax expense is an increase of NOK 12 million. 
 
 

Note 9.3 Events after the reporting period 
The financial statements are deemed to be approved for publication once they have been approved by 
the Board of Directors. After this point, the General Meeting and regulatory authorities may refuse to 
approve the financial statements but may not change them. Events that take place before the financial 
statements are deemed to be approved for publication and related to matters that were known at the 
reporting period end date, will be included in the information basis for determining accounting 
estimates and therefore be fully reflected in the financial statements. Events relating to matters that 
were not known at the balance sheet date are disclosed if they are material. 
 
At the time of the presentation of the financial statements, there were no known material events after 
the reporting period that were expected to have an impact on the Group’s income statement for 2018 
or its statement of financial position as of 31. December 2018.  
 
The boards of Eidsiva Energi and Hafslund E-CO agree on a draft agreement for merging the 
companies, as well as the principles for the exchange ratio. Negotiated draft agreements are in line 
with the letter of intent between the parties from November 2018 and will be submitted for resolution 
by the companies’ owners during the second quarter of 2019. Given owner acceptance in both 
companies and necessary regulatory approval, the transactions are expected to be completed in the 
third quarter of 2019. The transactions will result in substantial changes in the Group’s structure. 
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The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the going concern assumption. It is 
the Boards view that the Group satisfied these prerequisites at the time the financial statements were 
authorised for issue. 
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Income statement 

 

 

  

NOK million Note 2018 2017

Revenue 11             3                     

Salary and other personnel expences 3 -17            -12                  

Other operating expenses 4 -10            -10                  

EBIT -16            -19                  

Interest income 104           75                   

Interest expenses -212          -88                  

Other financial income/expenses 389           7,400              

Net financial items 5 281           7,387              

Profit before tax 265           7,368              

Income tax 6 28             -9                    

Profit for the year 293           7,377              

Distribution

Dividend -390          -335                

Transferred (from) / to equity -97            7,042              
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Balance sheet 
 

 

   

NOK million Note 2018 2017

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 7 3                  3

Deferred tax assets 6 36                7

Shares in subsidiaries 8 5,133           5,148

Other non-current receivables 9 2,831           2,835

Non-current assets 8,002           7,994

Trade receivables 10 2                  3

Other non-interest-bearing current receivables 10 391              2,597

Cash and cash equivalents 14 1,710           334

Current assets 2,103           2,934

Assets 10,105         10,928

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Paid-in capital 15 2,016           2,016

Other equity 15 240              338

Equity 15 2,256 2,354

Non-current interest-bearing debt 13 6,870           7,659

Non-current liabilities 6,870           7,659

Trade payables 12 -              2

Other current non-interest-bearing liabilities 12 89 155

Dividends 390              335

Current interest-bearing debt 11 500 423

Current liabilities 979 915

Equity and liabilities 10,105 10,928
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Cash flow statement  

 

 
Oslo, 10 April 2019 

 
The Board of Directors of Hafslund AS 

 

 

 

Tore Olaf Rimmereid     Per-Arne Torbjørnsdal 

Chair 

 

 

 

 

Andreas Løvendahl Wik     Kjell Arne Hansen 

CEO 

  

NOK million 2018 2017

Profit before tax 265 7,368 

Taxes paid -                  -                  

Changes in working capital, etc. -1 -718 

Other items with no cash flow effect 2,160 -6,353 

Net cash flows from operating activities 2,424 297 

Cash received from sale of shares -                  3,073 

Net cash flows from investing activities -                  3,073 

Increase in interest-bearing debt 900 -                  

Repayment of interest-bearing debt -1,197 -2,948             

Other financing activities -415 -                  

Dividends paid -335 -88                  

Net cash flows from financing activities -1,047 -3,036             

Change in cash and cash equivalents 1,376 334                 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January/4 August 334 -                  

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 1,710 334 
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Note 1 General information 
Hafslund AS was established 4 August 2017 after Hafslund ASA was de-listed from the Oslo stock 
exchange, and Hafslund AS de-merged from Hafslund ASA. Hafslund Markets, Hafslund Heat and 
Classification. Hafslund Production business areas were sold to Fortum, E-CO and the City of Oslo 
effective 4 August 2017. Following the transaction, Hafslund AS main business comprises Hafslund 
Networks. The company is headquartered in Oslo.  
 
 

Note 2 Accounting policies 
Hafslund AS’s annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Norwegian 
Accounting Act and generally accepted accounting practice in Norway (NGAAP).  
 
Revenue 
Revenue is recognised at the fair value of the consideration. Revenue consist mainly of intercompany 
services such as management fee and other services and is recognised at the time of delivery to the 
customer, provided that the customer has assumed the risks and rights pertaining to the property.  
 
Assets intended for permanent ownership or long-term use are classified as non-current assets. 
Assets relating to goods circulation, receivables due to be repaid within one year, and assets that are 
not intended for permanent ownership or long-term use in the business are deemed to be current 
assets. Liabilities falling due more than one year after the end of the financial year are recognised as 
long-term liabilities. Other liabilities are classified as current liabilities. 
 
Measurement principles 
Trade and other receivables 
Trade and other receivables are recognised at nominal value less bad debt provisions. Bad debt 
provisions are based on an individual assessment of each receivable. A non-specific provision is also 
recognised to cover expected bad debts on other trade receivables. 
 
Investments in subsidiaries 
Investments in subsidiaries are measured in accordance with the cost method. Assets are written 
down to fair value when impairments are attributable to causes not deemed to be temporary in nature 
and such is necessary in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice.  Impairments are 
reversed when the basis for the impairment no longer exists. Dividends and other distributions 
received are recognised as financial income. 
 
Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment is recognised in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairments. Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over its expected useful life from the time it enters operation. Profits and losses on the sale of 
operating assets are recognised as operating revenues and operating expenses respectively. 
 
Income taxes 
The tax expense is based on the profit/loss on ordinary activities before tax. The tax expense 
comprises taxes payable and changes in deferred tax liabilities/deferred tax assets. Tax payable is 
calculated based on the taxable result for the year. Deferred tax recognised in the balance sheet is 
calculated in accordance with the offset method, with full provision for net tax-increasing temporary 
differences based on tax rates and nominal amounts at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets 
relating to net tax-reducing temporary differences and tax losses carried forward are recognised based 
on an assessment of the probability of there being sufficient future earnings or ability to utilise tax 
positions that can be offset through Group contributions.   
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Liabilities 
Liabilities are recognised at nominal value. Borrowing costs raising loans are recognised directly in the 
income statement.  
 
Contingencies 
Contingencies are recognised if, on the balance of probabilities, it is more likely that these will be 
settled than not settled. Best estimates are used to calculate settlement values for the contingencies. 
Provisions are recognised in the event that decisions are taken to implement measures (such as 
restructuring measures) that materially change the scope of the business or way in which it is 
operated, and when such measures result in termination benefits. Provisions are calculated based on 
best estimates of the expenses that are expected to accrue. 
 
Basis of preparation of cash flow statement 
The cash flow statement has been prepared in accordance with the indirect method. This means that 
the starting point of the statement is the company’s operating profit in order to be able to present cash 
flows from ordinary operating activities, investing activities and financing activities, respectively.  
 
 
Note 3 Salaries and other personnel costs 

 
 

Note 4 Other operating expenses 

 

In 2018, auditors’ fees were recognised totalling NOK 1.4 million (NOK 1 million). The fees break down 
as follows: NOK 0.53 million (NOK 0.15 million) for statutory auditing, NOK 0.02 million (NOK 0.63 
million) for other certification services, NOK 0 million (NOK 0.03 million) for tax consultancy services 
and NOK 0.86 million (NOK 0.15 million) for non-auditing services.  
Value Added Tax is not included in the fee specification. 

NOK million 2018 2017

SALARIES AND OTHER PAYROLL EXPENSES

Wages and salaries 14                   10                   

Employers' national insurance contributions 2                     1                     

Pension Expenses 1                     1                     

Other payroll expenses 0                     1                     

Salaries and other payroll expenses 17                   12                   

NOK million 2018 2017

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Purchase of external services 4                     6                     

Insurance 1                     -                  

Sales and marketing expenses 2                     1                     

Other items 3                     3                     

Other operating expenses 10                   10                   
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Note 5 Financial items 

 

Other finance costs/income consists mainly of group contribution (without tax effect) of NOK 390 
million, from the subsidiary Hafslund Nett AS.  

NOK million 2018 2017

INTEREST INCOME

Interest income 104 38

Other financial income -                      37

Interest income 104 75

INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense -212 -88 

Capitalised interest expense -                      -                      

Interest expense -212 -88 

OTHER FINANCIAL

Gain/loss on sale of shares in subsidiaries -                      4 853

Dividends -                      2 557

Other finance costs/income 389 -9 

Other financial income/expenses 389 7 400

Net financial items 281 7 387
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Note 6 Income taxes 
 

 

 

 

 

NOK million 2018 2017

TAX EXPENSE

Income tax payable -                  -                  

Deferred tax on actuarial gains and losses -                  -1                    

Change in deferred tax liability/-asset -28                  -7                    

Too little/much tax set aside i previous years -                  -                  

Tax expense for the year -28                  -9                    

RECONCILIATION OF NOMINAL TAX RATE AGAINST EFFECTIVE TAX RATE

Profit before tax 265 7,368

23 % (24 %) of profit before tax 61 1,768

23 % (24 %) of permanent differences, dividends -91 -1,777 

23 % (24 %) effect of temporary differences that are not offset -                  -1 

23 % (24 %) actuarial gains and losses -                  1

Change in tax rate from 23 % to 22 % 2 -                  

Total tax expense -28 -9 

DEFERRED TAX

NOK million 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

General income tax

Non-current assets 2 2

Tax gain/loss account -3 -4 

Provisions 1 1

Pensions -                  4

Total -                  4

Tax losses carried forward -162 -36 

Negative temporary differences that are not offset -                  -                  

Total -162 -32 

Tax rate 22 % 23 %

Total deferred tax liabilities/-assets -36 -7 

Balance at 31 December -36 -7 
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Note 7 Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment consists of land and other properties with a recognised value of NOK 3 
million. The depreciation period is between 5 and 20 years for depreciable assets. Land is not 
depreciated.  
 

 

Note 8 Shares in subsidiaries 

 

 

Note 9 Other non-current receivables 

 

 

Note 10 Trade receivables and other current receivables 

 

Other non-interest-bearing current receivables consists mainly of group contribution (without tax effect) 

of NOK 390 million, from the subsidiary Hafslund Nett AS. 

Shares in subsidiaries Registered office Share holding Voting rights

Hafslund Nett AS Oslo 100 % 100 %

Hafslund Handel AS Oslo 100 % 100 %

Mill. kroner 2018 2017

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Other long term assets assets 2,700              2,700              

Other non-current interest-bearing assets 131                 131                 

Net pension funds -                  7                     

Other non-current assets 2,831              2,835              

TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables 2 3

Trade receivables 2 3

OTHER NON-INTEREST-BEARING CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Other non-interest-bearing current receivables 391 2,597

Other non-interest-bearing current receivables 391 2,597
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Note 11 Current interest-bearing debt 

 

 

Note 12 Trade payables and other current liabilities 

 
 

Note 13 Non-current interest-bearing debt 
For information on the company’s interest-bearing debt and maturity structure, please refer to note 5.2 
and 5.3 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 

Note 14 Guarantees 
Please refer to note 4.1 to the consolidated financial statements.  
 

 
 

NOK million 2018 2017

CURRENT INTEREST-BEARING DEBT 

Group overdraft facility 500                 423                 

Current interest-bearing debt 500                 423                 

NOK million 2018 2017

TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables -             2                

Trade payables -             2                

OTHER CURRENT NON-INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Public taxes and charges payable -             4                

Accrued interest 82               114             

Other current liabilities 7                37               

Other current non-interest-bearing liabilities 89               155             
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Note 15 Equity 

 

 

Note 16 Share capital and shareholder information 
Please refer to note 5.7 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 

 

Note 17 Events after the reporting period 
Please refer to note 9.3 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 

 

  

NOK million Share capital Share premium Other equity Total equity

Equity at 4 August 2017 131 1,885 -120 1,896

Actuarial gains and losses 4 4

Distribution to Oslo Energi Holding AS in connection with 
settlement Fortum -88 -88 

Distribution in kind -6,500 -6,500 

Profit for the year 7,377 7,377

Dividends for 2017 -335 -335 

Equity at 31 December 2017 131 1,885 338 2,354

Profit for the year 293 293

Dividends for 2018 -390 -390 

Equity at 31 December 2018 131 1,885 240 2,256
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Statement pursuant to §5-5 of Norway’s Securities Trading 
Act 
 

We declare to the best of our knowledge that: 

• The consolidated financial statements for 2018 have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs 

as adopted by the EU, including additional disclosures pursuant to the Norwegian Accounting 

Act. 

• The parent company’s 2018 annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with the Norwegian Accounting Act and generally accepted accounting practice in Norway. 

• The accounting information provides a true and fair view of the company’s and the Group’s 

assets, liabilities and financial position and performance as a whole. 

• The Report from the Board of Directors provides a true and fair picture of the development, 

performance and position of the company and the Group, as well as a description of the most 

important risk factors and uncertainties facing the business.  

Oslo, 10 April 2019 
The Board of Directors of Hafslund AS 

 

 
Tore Olaf Rimmereid 

Chair 

 

 
Per-Arne Torbjørnsdal 

 

 
Andreas Løvendahl Wik 

 

 
Kjell Arne Hansen 

CEO 
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PricewaterhouseCoopers AS, Postboks 748 Sentrum, NO-0106 Oslo 
T: 02316, org. no.: 987 009 713 VAT, www.pwc.no 

State authorised public accountants, members of The Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants, and authorised 

accounting firm 
 

 

To the General Meeting of Hafslund AS 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Hafslund AS, which comprise: 

• The financial statements of the parent company Hafslund AS (the Company), which comprise 
the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018, the income statement and cash flow statement for 
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, and 

• The consolidated financial statements of Hafslund AS and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprise the financial position as at 31 December 2018, the statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations. 

• The accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Company as at 31 December 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and 
practices generally accepted in Norway. 

• The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the EU. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the 
Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Key Audit Matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

Our focus area in the audit of the 2017 consolidated financial accounts was the transactions which 
followed as a result of the restructuring of the ownership in the former Hafslund ASA. For the audit of 
2018, we have focused on the estimate of accrued revenues, where in our opinion, the risk and 
complexity are unchanged from 2017. 
 

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter 

Accrued revenues (see group financial statements note 2.1 and 5.9) 

We have focused on accrued revenues 
because a share of the recognised revenues 
are estimated. The estimate reflects the fact 
that a measurement of actual distributred 
power volume does not exist for all 
customers at period end.  

The estimate for accrued revenue represent 
704 MNOK as per 31.12.2018 which is about 
14 % of total revenue related to distribution 
of power for the year 2018. 

The estimate for accrued revenue is 
calculated in a forecasting model which is 
based on distributed power volume to the 
power grid. The model also contains 
estimates on grid loss and estimated 
allocation of delivered power volume and 
price for the period for each customer group.  

The allocation of delivered power volume 
and price for each customer group is based 
on historical data on actual delivered 
volume. The allocation is, despite being 
based on historical data, considered an 
estimate where the final delivered volume 
will deviate from the original estimate.  

 

We assessed and tested internal controls directed at 
ensuring that all the delivered volumes are measured 
or stipulated and included in the calculation of actual 
and estimated accrued revenues. Our tests did not 
reveal any significant deviations 

We reviewed and assessed the company’s calculation 
of accrued revenue. We tested that the input for 
distributed power volume to the power grid is 
consistent with the basis and that grid loss seems 
reasonable compared to historical data.  

Furthermore, we reviewed the statement showing 
accrued revenues for each customer group compared 
to previous years to assess whether the changes seems 
reasonable, and we tested managements monitoring of 
the deviations from previous estimates. 

In addition we compared the company’s estimate of 
accrued revenue for 2018 against what was billed in 
2019 for 2018. The difference between the estimate 
and that billed was within a reasonable range.  

We also examined the company’s reconciliation of 
accrued revenue in the forecast model against the 
financial statements and we have read and assessed 
whether the information in the corresponding notes 
are sufficient. 
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Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information in 
the annual report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the 
Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (Management) are responsible for the preparation 
in accordance with law and regulations, including fair presentation of the financial statements of the 
Company in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, and for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the EU, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern. The financial statements of the Company use the going concern basis of accounting insofar as 
it is not likely that the enterprise will cease operations. The consolidated financial statements of the 
Group use the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
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• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's or the Group's internal control. 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company and the Group's ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report 

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the 
information presented in the Board of Directors’ report and in the statements on Corporate 
Governance and Corporate Social Responsibility concerning the financial statements, the going 
concern assumption and the proposed allocation of the result is consistent with the financial 
statements and complies with the law and regulations. 

Opinion on Registration and Documentation 

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have 
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements 
(ISAE) 3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 
Information, it is our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly 
set out registration and documentation of the Company’s accounting information in accordance with 
the law and bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway. 

 
 
Oslo, 10 April 2019 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS 
 
 
 
Thomas Fraurud 
State Authorised Public Accountant 
 
 
Note: This translation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only. 
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